
 

               AGENDA 
              ASTORIA CITY COUNCIL 

April 18, 2016 
7:00 p.m. 

2nd Floor Council Chambers 
1095 Duane Street  Astoria OR  97103 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. ROLL CALL 
 
3. REPORTS OF COUNCILORS 
 
4. CHANGES TO AGENDA 
 
5. PRESENTATIONS 

(a) Pacific Power 
(b) Lower Columbia Hispanic Council  

 
6. CONSENT CALENDAR 

The items on the Consent Calendar are considered routine and will be adopted by one 
motion unless a member of the City Council requests to have any item considered 
separately.  Members of the community may have an item removed if they contact the City 
Manager by 5:00 p.m. the day of the meeting. 
(a) City Council Minutes of 3/21/16 
(b) City Council Work Session Minutes of 3/21/16 
(c) Boards and Commissions Minutes 

(1) Historic Landmarks Commission Meeting of 3/15/16 
(2) Parks Board Meeting of 1/27/16 
(3) Planning Commission Meeting of 3/22/16 
(4) Planning Commission Work Session Meeting of 3/22/16 
(5) Traffic Safety Committee Meeting of 1/26/16 

(d) Acceptance of Certified Local Government Grant for Pass-through Façade Grant 
(Community Development) 

(e) Heritage Square Site Cleanup – Accept Business Oregon Grant (Public Works)  
(f) Authorize Solid Waste Engineering Consultant Services – Former Astoria Landfill (Public 

Works) 
(g) Authorization to Purchase Public Safety Radio Upgrades (Police) 

 
7. REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 

All agenda items are open for public comment following deliberation by the City Council.  
Rather than asking for public comment after each agenda item, the Mayor asks that audience 
members raise their hands if they want to speak to the item and they will be recognized.  In 
order to respect everyone’s time, comments will be limited to 3 minutes. 
(a) Liquor License Application from James Defeo, dba Carruthers Kitchen, Inc., Located at 

1198 Commercial Street, for a New Outlet for a Full On-Premises Sales Commercial 
Establishment License (Finance) 

(b) Spur 18 Combo Harvest 2016 (Public Works) 



 
 
 

7. REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS (continued) 
(c) Request to Award Contract with Auditors (Finance) 
(d) Request to Purchase City-owned Property Adjacent to 323 Alameda Avenue (Public 

Works) 
(e) Revised Job Description and Salary Resolution for Library Director (City Manager) 
(f) Affordable Housing Code Amendments – Vacation Rentals (Community Development) 

 
8. NEW BUSINESS & MISCELLANEOUS, PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA) 
 
9. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

(a) ORS 192.660(2)(h) – Legal Counsel 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS MEETING IS ACCESSIBLE TO THE DISABLED.  AN INTERPRETER FOR THE 
HEARING IMPAIRED MAY BE REQUESTED UNDER THE TERMS OF ORS 192.630 BY 

CONTACTING JULIE YUILL, CITY MANAGER'S OFFICE, 503-325-5824. 



 
 
 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 

 
 

 
April 13, 2016 
 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: ASTORIA CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION AND REGULAR MEETING OF 

APRIL 18, 2016 
 
PRESENTATIONS 
 
Item 5(a): Pacific Power 
 

Alisa Dunlap, Regional Business Manager for PacifiCorp, will make a presentation 
regarding Pacific Power’s activities. 

 
Item 5(b): Lower Columbia Hispanic Council  
 

Jorge Guiterrez, Executive Director of the Lower Columbia Hispanic Council, will 
make a presentation regarding the activities of the Council. 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
Item 6(a): City Council Minutes 
 

The minutes of the City Council meeting of March 21, 2016 are enclosed for 
review.  Unless there are any corrections, it is recommended that Council approve 
these minutes. 

 
Item 6(b): City Council Work Session Minutes 
 

The minutes of the City Council Work Session of March 21, 2016 are enclosed for 
review.  Unless there are any corrections, it is recommended that Council approve 
these minutes. 

 
Item 6(c): Boards and Commissions Minutes 
 

The minutes of the (1) Historic Landmarks Commission meeting of 3/15/16,  
(2) Parks Board meeting of 1/27/16, (3) Planning Commission meeting of 3/22/16, 
(4) Planning Commission Work Session meeting of 3/22/16, and (5) Traffic Safety 
Committee Meeting of 1/26/16 are enclosed.  Unless there are any questions or 



Page 2 of 6 

comments regarding the contents of these minutes, they are presented for 
information only. 

 
Item 6(d): Acceptance of Certified Local Government Grant for Pass-through Façade 

Grant (Community Development) 
 

At its March 7, 2016 meeting, the City Council authorized submittal of a $12,000 
grant application to the Certified Local Government (CLG) program of the State 
Historic Preservation Office.  The request included funds to provide a pass-through 
façade grant to residential and commercial property owners who would like to 
restore portions of their properties that have been modified over the years.  The 
City was recently notified that the application was approved in the amount of 
$12,000.  This will require a 1:1 match from the City, all of which is met by current 
staffing and existing budget items.  No additional cash outlay is required for the 
grant.  The grant and matching amounts are included in the Fiscal Year 2016-2017 
Community Development Department budget.  The attached Grant Agreement has 
been reviewed and approved by the City Attorney.  It is recommended that Council 
accept the CLG grant in the amount of $12,000 by entering into the Grant 
Agreement. 

 
Item 6(e): Heritage Square Site Cleanup – Accept Business Oregon Grant (Public 

Works)  
 

The City of Astoria was awarded a United States Environmental Protection Agency 
(EPA) multi-purpose brownfield pilot grant in 2012 for assessment and cleanup of 
the Heritage Square site.  At the September 8, 2015 City Council meeting, staff 
and the project consultant, AMEC Foster Wheeler (AMEC), provided a project 
update and requested approval to place fill at a local City owned quarry site.  
Council was also notified that staff would be bringing a request to the Astoria 
Development Commission to allocate $40,000 from the Astor East Urban Renewal 
District (AEURD) for use as a match for the $400,000 EPA grant. 

 
At the December 7, 2015 Astoria Development Commission (ADC) meeting the 
ADC approved $109,842 in additional funds from the AEURD to complete the 
cleanup.  At the February 4, 2016 Special City Council meeting the Council 
approved a $46,909.23 contract amendment for additional cleanup work.  At that 
meeting Council was notified that $82,000 in grant funds from Business Oregon 
was forthcoming for installation of a groundwater monitoring well.  The funds are 
now available and a grant agreement is ready for signature.  It is recommended 
that Council accept the Business Oregon Development Department Brownfield 
Redevelopment Fund Grant in the amount of $82,000. 

 
Item 6(f): Authorize Solid Waste Engineering Consultant Services – Former Astoria 

Landfill (Public Works) 
 

The Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) issued a closure permit 
for the Astoria Landfill on December 10, 2015.  The permit outlines post-closure 
tasks that must be completed by various deadlines.  Staff has asked our solid 
waste consultant to provide a scope of work to assist us with the work required by 



Page 3 of 6 

June 30, 2016.  The following is an outline of the tasks included in the scope of 
work: 

 
Task 1 - Environmental Monitoring Plan ($5,560.00)  
Task 2 - Baseline Environmental Assessment Report ($11,005.00). 
Task 3 - On Call Consultation ($2,950.00)  

 
The work in the amount of $19,515.00 will be funded through the Landfill Reserve 
Fund which was established to support closure activities.  It is recommended that 
Council execute a contract with Maul Foster Alongi for a total not-to-exceed 
amount of $19,515.00 for solid waste engineering services for the Landfill Closure 
Project. 

 
Item 6(g): Authorization to Purchase Public Safety Radio Upgrades (Police) 
 

The Public Safety communications network is comprised of multiple radios located 
at eight individual sites.  These sites serve all the public safety agencies in Clatsop 
County.  Having our communications deficiencies exposed in the 2007 windstorm, 
the City of Astoria began to build out a robust, redundant, and capable 
communications network.  This network was designed to allow us a path towards 
simulcasting.  Simulcasting allows the Dispatch Center to broadcast radio 
transmission from several sites simultaneously.  A simulcast system allows the 
disparate repeaters to act as one allowing for maximum coverage throughout the 
County.  This would enhance our first responder’s situational awareness and 
increase officer safety.  The current system was designed to enable us to use 
simulcast when we had the upgraded equipment purchased and deployed.  The 
City currently has one GTR 8000 in service.  In conjunction with the Clatsop 
County Sheriff’s Office, staff would like to purchase two Motorola GTR 8000 base 
radios with associated software making simulcasting possible.  This addition would 
allow us to cover the majority of the County utilizing sites at Wickiup, Megler, and 
Tillamook Head.  These base radios with associated equipment are Western 
States Contracting Alliance (WSCA) contract priced at $10,640 each.  The Fiscal 
Year 2015-16 Emergency Communications Budget currently has an approved line 
item to purchase a GTR radio.  The estimated amount at the time of budgeting 
was $12,000.  In order to make this an operational system this year, the Sheriff’s 
Office has agreed to contribute the necessary funds to purchase a second radio.  
It is recommended that Council approve the purchase of two GTR 8000 base 
radios by Astoria 9-1-1 totaling $21,280 with the Sheriff’s Office reimbursing the 
Emergency Communications Fund $9,280.  

 
REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 
 
Item 7(a): Liquor License Application from James Defeo, dba Carruthers Kitchen, Inc., 

Located at 1198 Commercial Street, for a New Outlet for a Full On-Premises 
Sales Commercial Establishment License (Finance) 

 
A Liquor License Application has been filed by James Defeo, doing business as 
Carruthers Kitchen, Inc., located at 1198 Commercial Street.  The application is for 
a New Outlet for a Full On-Premises Sales Commercial Establishment License.  



Page 4 of 6 

The appropriate departments have reviewed the application.  It is recommended 
that Council approve the application. 

 
Item 7(b): Spur 18 Combo Harvest 2016 (Public Works) 
 

A commercial forest thinning on 40 acres of City Watershed property is proposed 
for the summer of 2016.  The Douglas-fir trees in this area are significantly 
infected with Swiss Needle Cast.  This disease is a fungus that kills the second 
and third year needles causing significant growth reductions and in some trees 
death as the disease progresses.  The disease does not affect Hemlock.  The 
thinning will focus on removing the Douglas-fir and improving the growing 
conditions for the healthy Hemlock.  Small openings in the forest will allow for 
natural regeneration of Hemlock.  Three patch cuts would also be part of the 
project as noted on the map.  The upper portion of the harvest area is bordered by 
the B Line spur road which has deteriorated significantly over the years.  This road 
will be improved as part of this project.  The net proceeds to the Capital 
Improvement Fund from this thinning operation are estimated to be $200,000 after 
harvest and reforestation costs.  It is recommended that Council approve the 
solicitation of bids for Spur 18 Combo Harvest 2016. 

 
Item 7(c): Request to Award Contract with Auditors (Finance) 
 

At the December 21, 2015 meeting, Council approved issuance of a request for 
proposals (RFP) seeking bids for audit services for the Fiscal Years 2015-16, 
2016-17 and 2017-018 with two one year extension periods. The audit will cover 
the financial statements of both the City and the Urban Renewal Districts.  The 
City received four proposals which were reviewed by a selection committee who 
applied a 70% weighting for technical merits and a 30% weighting for cost.  The 
results are as follows: 

 
Company Points 3 Year Bid Amount 

Merina & Company, LLP 89 $ 96,950 
Kern & Thompson, LLC 75 $ 115,800 
Steve Tuchscherer, CPA, PC 72 $ 89,850 
Pauly Rogers and Co., PC 57 $ 90,800 

 
As a point of reference, the prior three year audit fee by Pauly Rogers and Co., PC 
was $87,425. 

 
The proposals have been evaluated according to the terms of the RFP and it has 
been determined that Merina & Company, LLP to have the highest score.  Oregon 
Revised Statutes require that auditors enter into a Contract for their services.  The 
Contract incorporates the Engagement Letter required by the AICPA Professional 
Standards that describes the scope of the audit engagement.  The City Attorney 
has reviewed and approved the Contract as presented.  It is recommended that 
Council consider approval of the Contract for the audit of the City's financial 
statements for the periods indicated above. 

 



Page 5 of 6 

Item 7(d): Request to Purchase City-owned Property Adjacent to 323 Alameda Avenue 
(Public Works) 

 
The City has received a request from Bruce Conner to purchase City-owned 
property directly southeast of his property located at 323 Alameda Avenue.  The 
City property is approximately 1.0 acre (Lots 25 to 41, Block 17 Map number 
80907CD, Tax Lot 06400).  At their March 7, 2016 meeting, Council directed staff 
to order an appraisal of the subject property.  A summary appraisal report has 
been prepared and the estimated real land value is $ 47,000.  Mr. Conner has 
indicated a willingness to proceed with the sale.  As the cost of the appraisal was 
$800, staff is recommending that the additional cost above the $450 fee set in the 
City fee schedule be added to the sale price for a total of $47,350.  If Council is 
willing to continue with the proposed sale, a public hearing will be scheduled to 
take public comment.  It is recommended that Council schedule a public hearing 
on May 2, 2016 to discuss the proposed sale of this property.  

 
Item 7(e): Revised Job Description and Salary Resolution for Library Director (City 

Manager) 
 

Library Director Jane Tucker will be retiring at the end of May 2016.  The current 
Library Director job description has not been reviewed since Jane Tucker’s title 
was changed from Head Librarian to Library Director in 2002.  In preparation of 
posting the job opening, staff worked with the City’s human resources consultant, 
Xenium, to develop a new description and review salary ranges.  Before the 
position can be posted, the job description needed to be updated to reflect current 
library practices, to satisfy the current needs of the City, and to address the current 
marketplace.  A copy of the current and proposed job descriptions are attached.  In 
addition to the revised job description, it is proposed that the salary range be 
increased from Range 40 to Range 45.  This increase will bring it more in line with 
other similar jurisdictions in the area.  Range 40 provides salary Steps between 
$60,664 to $73,737 a year.  Range 45 provides salary Steps between $68,601 to 
$83,385 a year.  Funds are included in the draft budget for FY 2016-17 which 
would accommodate this increase.  This change will allow for the City to recruit a 
qualified candidate pool.  It is recommended that the City Council approve the 
revised job description and revised salary range contained in the attached 
resolution.  With this action, the job will be posted to begin the recruitment 
process. 

 
Item 7(f): Affordable Housing Code Amendments – Vacation Rentals (Community 

Development) 
 

Over the past months, the Astoria Planning Commission has been working to draft 
Development Code amendments to address affordable housing issues.  This 
follows City Council direction to initiate the project.  One issue the Commission 
discussed was bed and breakfasts, homestay lodging and vacation rentals.  
During the Planning Commission work sessions, there was no consensus that 
there is a problem with the current system; however, at the November 2, 2015 
Council meeting, the Council voted to include updates to “vacation rental” policies 
in the set of code amendments to address affordable housing.  In order to provide 



Page 6 of 6 

specific direction to the Planning Commission as to how the City Council wishes to 
address these uses, Community Development Director Kevin Cronin will present 
some options for Council discussion.  This feedback will be used by staff to draft 
code language for Planning Commission consideration. 

 
Item 9(a): ORS 192.660(2)(h) – Legal Counsel 
 

The City Council will recess to executive session to consult with counsel 
concerning legal rights and duties regarding current litigation or litigation likely to 
be filed.   



CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 
 
 
 

 
 

PRESENTATIONS 
 

Item 5(a) 
Pacific Power 

 
(No documentation is included for this agenda item) 

 
 



CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 
 
 
 

 
 

PRESENTATIONS 
 

Item 5(b) 
Lower Columbia Hispanic Council 

 
(No documentation is included for this agenda item) 

 
 



  

Page 1 of 5  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  March 21, 2016 

CITY OF ASTORIA      CITY COUNCIL JOURNAL OF PROCEEDINGS  
City Council Chambers 
March 21, 2016 
 
A regular meeting of the Astoria Common Council was held at the above place at the hour of 6:12 pm. 
 
Councilors Present: Nemlowill (via telephone), Herzig, Warr, Price, Mayor LaMear 
 
Councilors Excused: None 
 
Staff Present: City Manager Estes, Police Chief Johnston, Community Development Director Cronin, Parks and 
Recreation Director Cosby, Finance Director Brooks, Fire Chief Ames, Library Director Tucker, Public Works 
Director Cook, and City Attorney Henningsgaard. The meeting is recorded and will be transcribed by ABC 
Transcription Services, Inc.  
 
REPORTS OF COUNCILORS 
 

Item 3(a): Councilor Herzig reported that he attended Senator Betsy Johnson’s town hall in 
Warrenton over the weekend. Discussions at the town hall included an update on the most recent legislative 
session, emergency preparedness, Clatsop County’s popularity with tourists, the pros and cons of a bypass, and 
an announcement that she was able to get funding to rebuild the seafood center in Warrenton,. The Astoria 
Warming Center is closed for the season, but the church has given the center permission to keep the shower 
open one afternoon a week, one hour for men and one hour for women. He was looking forward to continuing to 
serve the homeless in Astoria.  
 

Item 3(b): Councilor Price reported that several Councilors attended the CASA celebration. The 
Astoria Downtown Historic District Association (ADHDA) hosted the Novel Efforts Downtown (NEDTalk) cluster 
analysis where people broke into groups and talked about what they wanted downtown and why they shop in the 
area. Director Cronin and Kevin Leahy are working on places that serve residents. The KMUN pledge drive is 
ongoing. Five of the ten Clatsop Economic Development Resources (CEDR) awards went to Astoria businesses, 
La Luna Loca, Frite and Scoop, Street 14 Café, P&L Johnson, and Bornstein Seafood. Two other award winners 
were from Warrenton. The Arts and Culture Grant Budget Subcommittee has met twice over the last couple of 
weeks. About 12 organizations have requested a little more than $70,000 in funding, but there is only about 
$50,000 available. The subcommittee will apportion the funds accordingly. Meyer Memorial Trust will be in 
Astoria on March 25th to talk about its 2016 funding opportunities. The trust has partnered with the Lower 
Columbia Hispanic Council and their granting procedures have changed over the last year. She encouraged 
individuals associated with non-profit or government organizations to attend the event. The trust has three 
programs, Building Communities, Helping the Environment, and Housing Opportunities. The City is hosting a 
public open house to discuss the waterfront bridge plans. Clatsop County scheduled a joint County/City meeting 
at McMenamins on March 31, 2016. The ADHDA will host one of its three main fundraisers on April 2nd, the Jane 
Barnes Review. Tickets can be purchased at Old Town Framing. 
 

Item 3(c): Councilor Warr reported that on Thursday, March 17th, he and City Manager Estes 
attended the annual Columbia Pacific Economic Development District (Col-Pac) meeting in Tillamook. After that, 
they met with the Transportation Plan Vision Group, which was appointed by the Governor to create ideas about 
transportation. The group had some great ideas, but they were unable to come up with funding. The Area 
Commission on Transportation meeting followed and Senator Johnson gave the same report that Councilor 
Herzig previously reported. 

 
Item 3(d): Councilor Nemlowill reported that the Parks Department would be hosting master planning 

open houses on Wednesday, April 6th at the Fort George Lovell Showroom from 5:00 pm to 7:00 pm, Thursday, 
April 7th at Street 14 Café from 7:00 am to 10:00 am, and Saturday, April 9th at Old Town Framing from 5:00 pm 
to 8:00 pm during the art walk. City staff will be present to discuss the project, answer questions, and record 
input. It would be wonderful for everyone to see the draft Parks Master Plan in its current state and provide input. 
 

Item 3(e): Mayor LaMear reported that she attended the budget subcommittee for community service 
organizations. She thanked committee members Shel Cantor and Janet Miltenberger. She also attended the 
Northwest Health Foundation dinner. The foundation has given a $100,000 grant to the Lower Columbia 



  

Page 2 of 5  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  March 21, 2016 

Hispanic Council. She also attended the CEDR awards dinner, the Oregon Cultural Trust meeting, and the town 
hall with Betsy Johnson and Suzanne Bonamici. She learned a tremendous amount at each event. 
 
CHANGES TO AGENDA   
 
No changes. 
 
PRESENTATIONS 
 

Item 5(a): Swearing in of New Police Officer Kevin Berry 
 
Mayor LaMear conducted the swearing in of Kevin Berry. Chief Johnston presented Officer Berry with a pin and 
noted Officer Berry’s educational background. 
 

Item 5(b): Astoria Downtown Historic District Association (ADHDA) 
 
Alana Garner, Executive Director, ADHDA, handed out a list of the ADHDA’s accomplishments, awards, and 
activities from 2015. She gave a brief overview of the ADHDA’s activities and the Main Street Program. She 
thanked the City, community, volunteers, ADHDA board members, committee chairs and members for their 
support. 
 
Councilors Herzig and Price thanked the ADHDA for all of its hard work. The ADHDA has done a good job of 
leveraging the money the City has given them and the downtown looks great. Councilor Price hoped more 
businesses would become members of the ADHDA in the near future. 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
The following items were presented on the Consent Calendar: 

6(a) Boards and Commission Minutes 
(1) Historic Landmarks Commission Meeting of 1/19/16 
(2) Historic Landmarks Commission Meeting of 2/25/142/16/16 
(3) Planning Commission Meeting of 2/23/16 

6(b) Accept Grant Funds from Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) and 
Authorize Solicitation for Consultant Services for Economic Development Strategy (Community 
Development) 

6(c) OR202 Sidewalk – STP Fund Transfer for Preliminary Engineering (Public Works) 
6(d) Change Order for Irving Avenue Bridge at 19th Street – Waterline Replacement Upgrade (Public Works) 

 
Mayor LaMear requested Item 6(b) be removed for further discussion. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Price, seconded by Councilor Warr, to approve Items 6 (a), (c), 
and (d) of the Consent Calendar. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill, 
and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 

Item 6(b): Accept Grand Funds from Department of Land Conservation and Development 
(DLCD) and Authorize Solicitation for Consultant Services for Economic 
Development Strategy (Community Development) 

 
Mayor LaMear said this grant program was very important because it was a long-term program that would help 
Astoria’s economic development.  
 
Director Cronin explained that he had previously worked on 5-year economic development programs in other 
cities. These programs resonated with many people in the community when he spoke about them during the 
interview process for his current position as Community Development Director. Astoria City Council has a goal to 
strengthen partnerships and encourage economic development, so, he applied for a grant from DLCD. Astoria 
did not receive the first grant he applied for, but the DLCD had so much support for this project that they 
reassigned funds from a different program.  
 



  

Page 3 of 5  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  March 21, 2016 

Mayor LaMear said the project document was huge, but was very well done. She thanked Director Cronin. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Herzig, seconded by Councilor Warr, to approve Item 6 (b) of 
the Consent Calendar. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill, and Mayor 
LaMear; Nays: None. 
 
REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 
 

Item 7(a): Ordinance Granting Nonexclusive Right and Franchise to CoastCom, Inc. (City 
Attorney/Finance) (2nd Reading & Adoption) 

 
This proposed ordinance received its first reading at the March 7, 2016 City Council meeting. The City of Astoria 
has telecommunication franchise agreements with several telecommunication and utility service providers who 
utilize City public rights-of-way for the placement of infrastructure. In 2008, the City of Astoria granted 
CoastCom, Inc., nonexclusive right and entered into a five year franchise allowing CoastCom to construct, 
operate, and maintain telecommunications system in the City's rights-of-way. Ordinance No. 08-03 with 
CoastCom, Inc., terminated September 19, 2013. CoastCom has continued to pay franchise fees to the City per 
the expired ordinance and wishes to renew nonexclusive right and franchise. CoastCom, Inc. provides 
telecommunications services to Clatsop County, LS Networks, Sunset Empire Transportation, and the City of 
Astoria. The provisions of this franchise are similar to franchise agreements negotiated with other users of public 
rights-of-way. Presented for Council’s consideration is a proposed ordinance drafted by City Attorney 
Henningsgaard granting a franchise to CoastCom, Inc., for operation of telecommunications facilities within City 
rights-of-way. It is recommended that City Council conduct the second reading and adopt the ordinance. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Price, seconded by Councilor Warr, to conduct the second 
reading of the ordinance granting a franchise to CoastCom, Inc., for operation of telecommunications facilities 
within City rights-of-way. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill, and 
Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 
Director Cook conducted the second reading of the ordinance. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Price, seconded by Councilor Warr to adopt the ordinance 
granting a franchise to CoastCom, Inc., for operation of telecommunications facilities within City rights-of-way. 
Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill, and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 

Item 7(b): Authorization to Award Contract for Parks and Recreation Management System 
(Parks)  

 
In the Fiscal Year 2015-2016 budget, the Astoria City Council allocated $55,000 of Capital Improvement Funds 
for a point of sale and registration software system, also known as a Recreation Management System, for the 
Parks and Recreation Department. On December 7, 2015, City Council authorized the request to solicit 
proposals for this system. While Department staff began investigating Recreation Management Systems, the 
Comprehensive Parks and Recreation Master Plan needs assessment was developing several draft conclusions 
relating to a Park Maintenance Management System in addition to a Recreation Management System. With the 
additional identified need of a Maintenance Management System, the Department included the amenities 
provided by a Maintenance Management System in the request for proposals to evaluate what possible costs 
would be. 
 
Between December and March, Department staff and the City’s IT consultants focus, evaluated proposals, 
interviewed the proposers, and viewed product demonstrations. To fund the purchase and associated startup 
costs of $126,632, staff proposes reallocating the budgeted $72,000 in Capital Improvement Funds for weed 
eradication and reseeding at Ocean View Cemetery to be combined with the previously allocated $55,000 for a 
point of sale and registration system, totaling $127,000 for a Parks and Recreation Management System. It is 
recommended that the City Council award a contract with Vermont Systems in the amount of $103,820 and 
enter into a software license, maintenance and support agreement in the annual amount of $11,094 the for the 
purchase, maintenance, and support of a Parks and Recreation Management System in order to have an 
effective and efficient Parks and Recreation Department that meets the needs of the community. 
 



  

Page 4 of 5  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  March 21, 2016 

Director Cosby explained that the new system would facilitate better communication between facilities, staff, and 
customers. The system will allow residents to register for programs from their home and help the Department 
track maintenance concerns. The point of sale functions within the system will automate processes for the 
Aquatic Center and Recreation Center. Customers will be able to purchase passes online outside of the center’s 
operating hours. This system will also increase revenues and efficiencies. 
 
Mayor LaMear confirmed there were no questions from the audience. 
 
Councilor Herzig said he supported the new system. Handwriting receipts at the Aquatic Center requires a 
tremendous amount of labor. Also, maintenance will be more efficient when staff knows what to order. He was 
concerned that the motion did not include all of the costs. City Manager Estes explained that the amount paid to 
iFocus was within the City Manager’s spending authority. However, the expenses for support from iFocus and 
the hardware costs could be included in the motion. All of the funds will be paid out of the Capital Improvement 
Fund. 
 
Councilor Herzig thanked Ian Sisson for working on the Parks and Recreation Master Plan. 
 
Councilor Price said she supported this and all software programs that make the City’s procedures more 
transparent and easier to use. She understood that this system would save the City $19,000 annually in part-
time office staff, that the part-time positions would not be eliminated but transferred, and that the annual savings 
would cover the cost of the license, maintenance, and support agreement. She asked if the $19,000 was being 
taken from the $77,000 transferred from the Cemetery’s weed and reseed budget. City Manager Estes said the 
$19,000 savings would come out of the Parks Fund to pay the salaries of Parks Department staff. Staff time now 
spent on processing transactions manually will be spent on maintenance and operations. Director Cosby added 
that the savings left over after the annual agreement expense would allow the department to fill one additional 
seasonal maintenance position for the spring and summer. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Herzig, seconded by Councilor Price to award a contract with 
Vermont Systems in the amount of $103,820 and enter into a software license, maintenance and support 
agreement in the annual amount of $11,094 the for the purchase, maintenance, and support of a Parks and 
Recreation Management System, and approve technical support expenses and hardware costs from iFocus. 
Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill, and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 
NEW BUSINESS & MISCELLANEOUS, PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA) 
 
Dan Gaffney, 92702 Fern Hill Road, Astoria, handed out copies of a letter at the dais. He thanked the City for 
maintaining the community water fluoridation system because it is the most effective, affordable, and equitable 
way to protect teeth from decay. He has retired from the Astoria School District and Seaside School District. 
Over the last 18 months, he worked on a plan funded by the Oregon Community Foundation and other 
benefactors to improve dental care for school age children. The grant is four-year grant that will begin in the fall 
and bring $70,000 each year into the county. Funds will be used to educate and provide sealants and fluoride 
treatments. He was a school administrator in the county for about 23 years and during that time, he saw the 
poverty level increase. This continues to happen. He is also involved in an early childhood health education plan 
that is free to all children ages two through five. This is the third year of the program, which begins each April 
and provides dental screenings. As a principal, a special education director, and as a classroom teacher, he has 
seen that children cannot concentrate when they are in pain. Preventing the pain of dental cavities is a step in 
the right direction. Tooth decay influences a child’s nutrition, self-esteem, speech development, and overall 
health. Currently, elementary schools in the county have a range from 51 percent to 68 percent of students that 
qualify for free or reduced lunches. This means those children are living at or below the poverty level. As a 
principal, he saw first hand very cute second grade children with crater mouth, which results when there are no 
teeth left. That motivated him to get involved in this project. In 2013, a study done by the county health 
department reported that 1,250 people sought emergency room help for dental pain in two years. This was not 
just children. The project he was involved with included the health department, Columbia Memorial Hospital, 
Providence Health Services Center, five school districts, school nurses, many local dentists and hygienists, 
Columbia Pacific Coordinated Care Organization (CCO), and the Oregon Community Foundation. Prevention 
really pays off because preventing health issues provides better students who end up causing less concern for 
the parents and the community. The students become more confident and more productive citizens who 
demand less from social services. He believed this starts with health and continues with education. The study 



  

Page 5 of 5  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  March 21, 2016 

done by the health department indicated only 35 percent of children and 45 percent of adults in Clatsop County 
see a dentist yearly. He offered to help when the question of fluoride in Astoria’s water comes up in the future. 
 
Lori Durheim, 398 Atlantic, Astoria, said she supported fluoridation. She grew up with fluoridation and believed 
Mr. Gaffney made some great points. She asked City Council to allow fluoridation to continue. 
 
Ted Thomas, 398 Atlantic, Astoria, said he was alarmed when he read an article in the newspaper saying the 
City had thought about reconsidering fluoride in the water. Barring a super majority, prior notice, and a public 
hearing would not be germane to put before the people because it is reconsideration of a past resolution that 
was accomplished by a ballot initiative, not simply a vote by City Council. The resolution was passed in 1956, 
when very few of the audience members were members of the City Council or in the audience. Without new 
information from scientifically peer-reviewed sources that have been accepted and vetted, the resolution should 
not be reconsidered. The efficacy of water fluoridation is better proven by the World Health Organization, the 
Centers for Disease Control, and a litany of other medical professionals. The source of anti-fluoridation rhetoric 
in today’s world can be drawn directly from the failed astronaut and failed medical student Joseph Holen, who 
has a website of the same name. The three pillars upon which medical fraud rests are the suspension of normal 
due diligence and peer review, the false portrayal of special and hidden knowledge, and the discrediting of 
existing medical practices. Fluoridation is a practice that has saved countless numbers of people’s health, well-
being, and esteem. Thrombosis from an abscessed tooth leads to heart attacks and strokes. The sedative effect 
is primarily in children, but it also helps adults. The decision to add fluoride to the water was a good one that 
should be maintained. 
 
Mayor LaMear recessed the regular City Council meeting at 6:55 pm to convene the Astoria City Council Work 
Session.  
 
WORK SESSION:  COMMUNICATIONS TOWER 
 
Immediately following the work session on the communications tower, Mayor LaMear reconvened the regular 
meeting of the Astoria City Council at 8:21 pm.  
 
Councilor Herzig believed the Council had learned that the City needs to keep this process as public and as 
transparent as possible from now on. The process was being created as it moved forward, but now the City 
knows public input is valuable, and City Council has taken public input and made it central to the City’s decision 
making process. 
 
Chief Johnston said if City Council recommends Option 3, there will not be much public process left. Staff will 
negotiate a lease in private and then City Council will adopt the lease and the City will move forward. 
 
Councilor Herzig noted that adoption of the lease will be a public process and City Council will consider public 
input. He appreciated that this process was almost complete. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Price, seconded by Councilor Warr to direct staff to proceed 
with Option 3 with regard to the Communication Tower. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, 
Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill, and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:23 pm.  
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
 
              
Finance Director City Manager  



  

Page 1 of 6  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  March 21, 2016 

CITY OF ASTORIA      CITY COUNCIL JOURNAL OF PROCEEDINGS  
City Council Chambers 
March 21, 2016 
 
A work session of the Astoria Common Council was held at the above place at the hour of 7:03 pm. 
 
Councilors Present: Nemlowill (via telephone), Herzig, Warr, Price, Mayor LaMear 
 
Councilors Excused: None 
 
Staff Present: City Manager Estes, Police Chief Johnston, Community Development Director Cronin, Parks and 
Recreation Director Cosby, Finance Director Brooks, Fire Chief Ames, Library Director Tucker, Public Works 
Director Cook, and City Attorney Henningsgaard. The meeting is recorded and will be transcribed by ABC 
Transcription Services, Inc.  
 
COMMUNICATIONS TOWER 
 
The agenda packet included a memorandum outlining the history of replacing the City of Astoria communication 
facilities at Astor Park. In order to move forward with plans to address the issue, direction is requested from the 
City Council. 
 
Chief Johnston said staff wanted input from City Council on several issues. He gave a Power Point presentation 
on staff’s perspective of the communications tower issues, the City’s goals, the City’s relationship with Verizon, 
and the four policy options listed on Page 5 of the memorandum. He asked Council to provide feedback about 
staff’s goals and direction on how to move forward. 
 
Mayor LaMear believed staff’s goals were right for the City and she supported Option 3. She confirmed that staff 
should continue trying to reduce costs and maximize revenues for as long as the City can make money from the 
cell tower. She understood the revenue would go to the Parks and Recreation Department. Chief Johnston 
clarified that the Shively Park lease stated proceeds from the tower would go into the Parks Operations Fund. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill said she supported maximizing revenue, but on the last proposal, aesthetics weighed 
heavier. The City has learned that a wireless communications facility is not compatible with a historic park. 
Unfortunately, the option presented moved a cell phone tower from one historic park to another. She supported 
Options 3 and 4. 
 
Councilor Herzig believed Option 3 was the most interesting. He understood Chief Johnston had not finished the 
presentation and added that public input should be one of the goals. 
 
Councilor Price believed City Council was always looking to minimize costs and maximizing revenue is not 
always the right thing to do. Aesthetic impact is important, as are impacts to neighborhoods, residents, and 
historic parks. The Friends of the Astoria Column have put some political pressure on the City. The tower at 
Astor Park cannot be seen from anywhere in the City or from across the river, but she understood the interest of 
the Friends and the majority of the Council. Therefore, she believed Option 3 was the best. She did not believe 
the City wanted to find funding for an $800,000 project. She understood the City was currently receiving about 
$42,000 in lease payments. 
 
Chief Johnston clarified that $42,000 was the amount of the existing lease for Shively Park. The City would not 
have received any revenues from the reservoir site for the first five years in consideration of Verizon building the 
tower and allowing the City’s facilities to be on the tower for free. 
 
Councilor Price said Option 4 did not seem possible and Options 1 and 2 were not politically possible. 
 
Councilor Warr believed Shively Park was the ideal option because it provided the best coverage. In today’s 
market, cell service is like any other utility. Coming across the bridge from Warrenton, two large cell towers can 
be seen. However, cell towers are like telephone poles; even though they are a bit obnoxious, they provide for 
the greater good for the most people. He strongly believed that the Shively Park option would serve the 



  

Page 2 of 6  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  March 21, 2016 

community better than any of the other options. Therefore, he found it difficult to support any of the four options 
listed in the memorandum. 
 
Chief Johnston continued with his presentation by reviewing the history of staff’s efforts to resolve 
communication tower issues, the Friends involvement, and how the process led to recommending Shively Park 
as the only viable location for a tower. 
 
Councilor Herzig said the consultants stated Shively Park was not the only possible place for a tower, but it was 
the best among the candidates they surveyed. The consultants had said they did not exhaust all of the 
possibilities. Chief Johnston said Shively Park was the only realistic site. There are other sites that will serve a 
tower, but every other site is a poor substitute for Shively. Councilor Herzig disagreed. At first, the consultants 
said the tower needed to be of a specific type, a specific design, and in a specific location. When the City said 
no, the consultants said maybe a slightly different pole and a slightly different location would work. Therefore, he 
does not believe that there is no wiggle room anymore. This is not staff’s fault. The consultants have showed 
that sometimes, the City believed it was dealing in good faith but the consultants were bluffing. Chief Johnston 
said because of his perspective as staff, he strongly believed that every other option would result in a significant 
decrease in Verizon services. He remembered Councilor Herzig’s reaction to the presentation and believed 
Converge spoke poorly during that presentation. Converge’s comments did not match his own perception of 
reality. Since the appeal process, staff has understood that City Council does not want any tower structure in any 
park. He asked if this was accurate. 
 
Councilor Herzig said what the public wants is more important. He believed the public was opposed to a tower in 
Shively Park and wanted the City to seriously consider any communication structure proposed for any historic 
site or public park. The City should be completely transparent with the public about its intentions and the public 
should be asked for their option before the City moves on any decision. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill understood the desire to work with Verizon up until this point to create a much-needed new 
facility for the City’s emergency communications. However, the City’s attempt to partner with Verizon has not 
succeeded. She wanted the City to separate itself from the responsibility of finding a site for Verizon. If Verizon 
went out on its own to find a site, the site might not be in Astoria or on City property. 
 
Councilor Price said Astoria has 64 parks and she did not know where about 20 of them were located or what 
they look like or how big they are. Therefore, she believed staff’s question about the appropriateness of a tower 
in a park was not useful. 
 
Chief Johnston said Options 1 and 4 are separate from Verizon. Staff believes partnering with Verizon would 
result in huge cost reductions because the City’s facilities could be upgraded for free. 
 
Mayor LaMear agreed with Councilor Warr that Shively Park is the best option. She heard from people who were 
saying Astoria needs better cell phone coverage and supported a tower at Shively because it would provide 
better coverage. While Shively Park is her first choice, her second choice is to explore the options with Verizon. 
 
Councilor Warr said City Council heard from people who live near Shively Park that opposed the tower. If he 
lived near Shively Park, he may have been opposed for a few weeks, but then he would not see the tower 
anymore. However, the people he has spoken with supported a tower at Shively Park. He did not agree that the 
public was against a tower at Shively Park. 
 
Chief Johnston understood that saying no park ever was too broad a statement, that City Council wanted public 
input, staff needed to be very transparent if a tower in a park were considered, and that it would be nice if Astoria 
could resolve these issues without Verizon. He confirmed that if Astoria does not put up a tower in cooperation 
with Verizon, the City would still have a tower in a historic park or incur substantial debt from building a new 
tower. 
 
Councilor Warr was sure the City would not take on more debt at this time. He believed the City needed to 
decide which park to put a tower in. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill asked how much money the City made from leases with colocators on the tower at the 
Column. She wanted to consider Option 4 in more depth because some of the construction costs of the reservoir 



  

Page 3 of 6  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  March 21, 2016 

site could be offset and the City could generate revenue in the future. Chief Johnston explained that the reservoir 
site would cover a very small area for Verizon, AT&T, Sprint, and any other company the City tried to collocate 
on that tower. Some of those carriers have almost no coverage in the area, so those carriers would find the 
reservoir site more attractive than Verizon does. However, it would be ambitious to try to estimate those 
numbers. The City does not currently have anyone on staff to recruit tenants and manage leases. Therefore, 
generating the leases will incur costs and the City would have to pursue leases aggressively to maximize any 
benefits. 
 
Councilor Price believed the City was currently getting about $24,000 a year from leases. 
 
Councilor Herzig said it was important to remember that technology continues to advance and that Verizon will 
not walk away from this market. Verizon has an investment in the area and they want to keep their customers. 
When the Friends began dealing more aggressively with Verizon, Verizon was willing to accommodate the 
reservoir site. He believed Astoria should continue to be strong for the citizens. Verizon will provide the better 
cell phone coverage the citizens want, but the City cannot give away the farm too rapidly. Advances in 
technology and realizing that Verizon wants to stay in Astoria means the City does not have to make deep 
concessions. Chief Johnston noted that staff has been strong on this issue for eight years now and he does not 
have the energy to continue. Staff is running out of capacity for this project. 
 
Councilor Warr said Astoria has been very rough on Verizon since this process began. The City has forced 
Verizon to do things they did not want to do. By trimming down a proposal that Verizon felt good about, Astoria 
has cut off its nose to spite its face. He believed the proposal was a good proposal. Chief Johnston added that 
Verizon representatives have said it is unusual for Verizon to go this far. The City got Verizon to move from a 
$500,000 investment to $1.5 million investment. Verizon is still willing to stay at the reservoir and try to fill the 
small void left by Shively Park, but Verizon’s efficiency within the City will decrease. Verizon is a private company 
and this is not an altruistic business for them either. However, Astoria does not know the financial data. 
 
Councilor Price did not believe there was a downside to Option 3. The City had extensive public hearings on 
Shively Park. Verizon and the Friends attended the hearings and the public listened to the proposals. The 
recordings are available for anyone who wants to listen to them again and the minutes of the meetings are 
available. She believed Verizon, the Friends, and everyone in the room had a good idea why Shively Park was 
off the table. She supported Option 3. She understood staff’s request for more guidance, but said City Council 
could not make land use decisions ahead of the Historic Landmarks Commission (HLC) and Planning 
Commission. Putting a tower outside of city limits was a good idea because then Verizon would not have to deal 
with either body. Option 3 takes the City out of Verizon’s job to find a location. However, it is possible that Astoria 
would not have tower within the city limits that could be rented to colocators for additional revenue. She asked if 
there were any other downsides to Option 3. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill understood Option 3 was the most popular with City Council and asked if staff believed 
Option 3 was the best. Chief Johnston said Option 3 would be the least amount of work for staff and the City 
would still end up with emergency communications facilities in a safe area. 
 
Councilor Herzig said he appreciated the work staff had done, but noted that when work began the City was not 
fully staffed. The City now has a Community Development Director and a City Planner. He did not believe Chief 
Johnston would have to carry the workload alone and believed the Community Development Director and 
Planner should be involved. City Manager Estes said he was the Community Development Director and 
Rosemary Johnson was the City Planner when this project began. She was retained after she retired to continue 
working on this project for continuity. The Community Development Department is reviewing this project from a 
land use perspective and other individuals are doing the negotiating. Therefore, it would not be appropriate to 
have Director Cronin negotiate. A permit is already in place for Option 3. If other sites in the city limits were to be 
reviewed, Director Cronin and Planner Ferber would conduct the reviews. 
 
Chief Johnston noted that the tower at Astor Park was currently overburdened and Reservoir Ridge offers the 
City public safety opportunities. Verizon will not go forward with the current lease, so the City will receive reduced 
income; however, staff should be able to minimize costs. The lease was based on the future development at 
both sites because the lease had to be approved before the permits. With the permits for Shively Park denied, 
Verizon is not willing to move forward with Reservoir Ridge. However, Verizon is willing to renew the lease at 
Astor Park for another year. Staff has been asked to consider a broadcast site off Pipeline Road. Both of the 



  

Page 4 of 6  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  March 21, 2016 

City’s land mobile radio vendors have looked at the site and determined the site should be avoided because of 
the geography of the area. The site would decrease the City’s land mobile radio coverage, which violates the 
principle that this process should not result in a decrease of public safety radio. The site does not offer any ability 
to expand. Expansion would require a tower too tall for the wind loads. The location of this particular location 
cannot suit Astoria’s current or future needs. The Friends of the Column have requested that no lease 
extensions be granted. This will allow staff to convey a sense of urgency when negotiating; however, Astoria’s 
flexibility will be restricted. The City needs to make a decision and move forward on this issue quickly because 
public safety infrastructure is being damaged. The temperature inside the emergency communications building 
at the Column cannot be controlled and the open ventilation allows too much dirt inside. This was okay when the 
City had two based and solid state radios, but the room now looks more like a server room than a radio room 
because it holds switches, microwave radios, and networked equipment. The longevity of the equipment is 
decreasing and every time the power goes out the temperature inside the shed rises. He appreciated City 
Council’s input and asked for a firm recommendation on one of the policy options. 
 
Councilor Herzig asked if the Friends were opposed to the lease extension that would be required to move 
forward with Option 3. Chief Johnston said staff would have to ask, but he believed the Friends would 
understand if they recognized the end result. Councilor Herzig said the Friends wanted the tower removed from 
the Column and a lease extension would delay this. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill believed the City could move forward with better public safety facilities without taking the 
historic facilities. She hoped everyone would agree. If the lease needs to be extended for another year or two, 
the Friends should be reassured that the City intends to move the tower away from the Column. Councilor Price 
agreed. 
 
Mayor LaMear confirmed that City Council wanted staff to move forward with Option 3, but only after public input 
and presentations from Verizon and the Friends of the Column. She called for public comments. 
 
Shel Cantor, 1189 Jerome, Astoria, said he understood that the site at Reservoir Ridge would provide better 
coverage for Astoria’s needs than the site at Astor Park. He asked if this was true. Chief Johnston said 
Reservoir Ridge would provide radio coverage equivalent to Astor Park. However, Reservoir Ridge would also 
provide Astoria the opportunity to connect to remote sites through a microwave connection that cannot be 
reached from any of the existing sites. 
 
Mr. Cantor said this would be an improvement from Astoria’s point of view. During the hearings, Verizon’s lawyer 
had said this process was not what Verizon normally liked to do. He had explained that Verizon normally goes 
out on their own to look for a site that serves their purposes and then they attempt to negotiate with the property 
owner for a lease. Verizon is not altruistic and does not provide charity. This is clearly to Verizon’s advantage as 
they were willing to spend $1.5 million. He was concerned about Astoria building its own tower at Reservoir 
Ridge. The design of the tower would need to be decided in advance. He asked if the tower would accommodate 
other providers, if so how many, and what those providers would need. All of these decisions would need to be 
made in advance or Astoria would need to build the minimum requirements to accommodate the City’s needs. 
This concerned him because Astoria does not have the staff to investigate and negotiate. City Manager Estes 
said Astoria’s Development Code requires colocation. If towers were constructed, providing colocation sites 
would minimize the need for additional towers. Chief Johnston added that the City would end up hiring a 
contractor to do the necessary work. 
 
Mr. Cantor understood, but wanted to know if colocation would require an extra 100 feet or 150 feet, or support 
for an extra 3,000 pounds or an extra 50 pounds. The City cannot know how much to provide for colocation 
without additional information. Chief Johnston noted that Verizon has already done this work. 
 
Mayor LaMear confirmed there were no more public comments and called for a presentation from the Friends of 
the Astoria Column. 
 
David Olson said he was a Friends of the Astoria Column board member and the Friends asked him to speak. 
However, he would not represent the Friends until City Council has made a decision because the Friends must 
consider City Council’s decision first. The board asked him to explain what the Friends have been up to in this 
process, which was well described by Chief Johnston. He was the Cable Communications Director for the City of 
Portland for about 30 years and served under five mayors. He was involved with all of Portland’s wireless siting 



  

Page 5 of 6  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  March 21, 2016 

issues, which are difficult issues for everyone involved and all over the country. There has been an enormous 
spike in wireless use for recreation, public safety, education, and health care. The Federal Communications 
Commission (FCC) is refiguring their spectrum to accommodate the demand.  

• After April 1, 2013, when the last proposal for a monopole at Coxcomb was presented to City Council, 
he was brought in by the Friends to help. In the last year, he took a friend to see the Column lit up at 
night. The friend said the Column was beautiful and fantastic. He took his friend back to the Column the 
next day and she asked why the communications facilities were located at that site. He has had the 
same reaction even though he is sympathetic to the conflicting facilities.  

• In May 2013, he sent the Friends a memorandum saying technical solutions were always an option. In 
June 2013, Verizon agreed to consider spending three times more than they had imagined to move 
facilities out of one of the most historic locations in Oregon. He wrote the request for proposals for the 
Friends and the competitive bidding process resulted in hiring Converge to work with Verizon on a 
solution. 

• In 2014, Verizon’s team began this enormous project. In the mean time, a new City Council was elected. 
Code changes, designs, and engineering had to be done. The tower was engineered possibly four times 
by independent engineering teams. The Friends were very gratified when this came to City Council in 
August 2015 and the majority of the Council indicated this would be a great solution.  

• The goals of the Friends remain the same, to support City Council and the City in finding ways to remove 
conflicting wireless facilities, particularly from critical historic parks. He heard Councilors say Astoria does 
not want conflicting wireless facilities in historic parks and Council has adopted this as a policy. However, 
Astoria currently has conflicting wireless facilities in a historic park that attracts 400,000 visitors each year. 
This is significant and he knows people want the facilities removed. The Friends want to complete a master 
planning process with Astoria for Astor Park, open up views to the northeast, and possibly build facilities that 
benefit the visitors. None of this is possible with the existing facilities. The City has a contractual agreement 
that cannot be executed as long as the facilities remain in that location. The Friends are very supportive of 
the City’s work and the situation the City faces. These wireless issues are difficult because wireless has 
spiked all over the country and the City’s public safety needs must be met. He urged Council to refrain from 
presuming that just because the facilities have always been in Astor Park they cannot be seen anymore. By 
the City’s own criteria, the facilities need to be moved. He agreed that much of this work could have been 
done more publicly and he would have been delighted to explain each step of the process and the results of 
the engineering study. Everyone has the right to know the engineering work that was done on the site 
locations. He agreed with the Councilors that said Astoria should not have conflicting facilities. In the early 
stages, it was tough to get one of the largest wireless companies in the country to spend three times as 
much they ever imagined in order to accommodate the most significant historic site in Oregon. The Friends 
support meeting the wireless needs of customers in Astoria, but also support the City’s efforts to move the 
conflicting facilities out of the most historic park in Oregon and benefit the community. There is nothing 
lovely about a power pole, lines, and facilities sitting in the City’s streets. And if these facilities remain long 
enough, they become part of the landscape. However, people react when something changes. There are not 
many ways to make communications facilities look better, but there are design methods and many other 
things that can be done.  

• The Friends have a master planning process the City is committed to completing, but the master plan cannot 
be done with the facilities at Astor Park. He believed the Friends would be sympathetic to a temporary 
extension while a permanent solution was being worked on. The City did the public process and educated 
people about the trade-off. He believed the Friends would be sympathetic to any solution that worked for the 
City and the public to move facilities off the hill while accommodating the public safety facilities if the City had 
a definite and fixed process. Verizon has stepped up with a lot of persuading and he was sorry that the 
process was not more public. The Friends primary interest is to complete the master planning and move 
conflicting facilities off the hill. 

 
Councilor Herzig understood that some things had to be done in back rooms and all of the work could not have 
been done publicly. The City should have been checking in and relaying the information to the public more often. 
This was new territory for everyone. 
 
Mr. Olsen offered to help in any way he could. 
 
Mayor LaMear called for a presentation from Verizon. 
 



  

Page 6 of 6  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  March 21, 2016 

Yogi Sandstrom, 3021 SE Briarwood Dr., Vancouver, WA, said he has been working in wireless communications 
for 13 years and has never seen any situation that required so much effort and time with one particular carrier. 
Verizon wants to renew the lease at Coxcomb for a one-year extension with the option to renew for an additional 
year. Now that Shively Park is not an option, Verizon will choose a new site outside of the City of Astoria. He has 
done project management for Verizon, which has included over 100 sites in Oregon in the last three years and 
he will be locating the new site once the project is assigned to him. Verizon plans to construct a new tower at the 
reservoir, which he believed was Option 3. Verizon is currently engineering the new road, the City has already 
approved permits for the tower, and the lease has already been negotiated. A 50 foot by 50-foot piece of land will 
be developed and the tower will be engineered to accommodate Verizon, the City, and future colocators. Fiber 
will be brought 1.2 miles from James Street to the site. Verizon will also remove and dispose of the tower at 
Coxcomb when the lease has expired and return the land to its pre-1989 condition. This will include foundation 
removal and landscaping. Verizon will remove all of the City’s equipment from the tower at Coxcomb and place it 
on the new tower, move all of the cabinets from the old shelter to the new shelter, supply the new shelter for the 
City with a generator and a $150,000 system, and give ownership of the equipment to the City. Verizon will also 
provide diagnostics on all of the City’s equipment and realign it. The City will get 1.2 miles of fiber, and brand 
new road, and a tower that the City can get income from via ground leases. Verizon would like free rent for the 
duration of the lease in exchange. Colocators would sign two separate leases, one with Verizon for facilities 
placed on the tower that they own and one with the City for the ground facilities. He believed this was a pretty 
good deal. Verizon was considering four sites to replace the tower at Coxcomb, the Astor Hotel, Shively Park, 
the reservoir, and stave bolt; however, since Verizon must find a replacement for Shively, they are looking 
outside of the city. Astoria will never get a new tower with all of the planning restrictions in the city. He confirmed 
for Councilor Herzig that there is no way Verizon can locate a tower in the city. He will be in charge of finding a 
replacement site for Shively that is not in the City of Astoria. Verizon is open to Options 1 and 2, but those 
options are not the best. He preferred Option 3 because it offers some great benefits for the City. He believed 
the City could still get revenue from the smaller companies. 
 
Councilor Warr asked if Mr. Sandstrom expected a degradation of Verizon service within the city limits. Mr. 
Sandstrom said Verizon had three different radio frequency engineers work on this project since he got involved. 
The engineers want to find the best solution and the east end of Astoria will get service from the reservoir site. 
Astor Hotel will cover another section of town and Verizon will have to find a location that will cover the area 
Shively Park would have provided service to. Service will not be as good, but Verizon is trying to use four sites to 
cover the one. Verizon budgeted more than $2 million for this project. 
 
Councilor Herzig thanked Mr. Sandstrom for all of the work he put into the project. The sites being discussed are 
Astoria’s historic legacy and it is a tribute to the Friends of the Column that this situation was so exceptional. He 
was thrilled that Verizon was willing to give so much. Mr. Sandstrom added that Verizon wants this project 
completed as soon as possible and he would be happy to work out the small details with staff. The building 
permit for the reservoir site is almost ready. Councilor Herzig said no one wanted to drag this out any longer than 
necessary. 
 
City Manager Estes noted that over the years, the City has had very successful public/private partnerships. He 
believed in this case, Option 3 would provide the best product because the City would get a brand new tower that 
will provide better coverage and service for emergency communications. If Council decides to move forward with 
this option, staff will have to work with Verizon and get specific dollar amounts. He also believed Option 3 was 
the most fiscally responsible. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, the work session adjourned at 8:21 pm to reconvene the Astoria City Council 
meeting. 
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
 
              
Finance Director City Manager  



  

Historic Landmarks Commission 
Minutes 3-15-16 

Page 1 of 6 

HISTORIC LANDMARKS COMMISSION MEETING 
City Council Chambers 
March 15, 2016 
 
CALL TO ORDER – ITEM 1: 
 
A regular meeting of the Astoria Historic Landmarks Commission (HLC) was held at the above place at the hour 
of 5:15 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL – ITEM 2:  
 
Commissioners Present:  President LJ Gunderson, Vice President Michelle Dieffenbach, Commissioners 

Jack Osterberg, Paul Caruana, and Thomas Stanley.  
 
Commissioners Excused:  Mac Burns and Kevin McHone. 
 
Staff Present:  Planner Nancy Ferber and Community Development Director Kevin Cronin. The 

meeting is recorded and will be transcribed by ABC Transcription Services, Inc. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES – ITEM 3(a):  
 
President Gunderson asked if there were any changes to the minutes. There were none.  
 
Commissioner Stanley moved to approve the minutes of February 16, 2016 as presented; seconded by Vice 
President Dieffenbach. Ayes: President Gunderson, Vice President Dieffenbach, Commissioners Caruana, 
Osterberg, and Stanley. Nays: None.  
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS:  
 
President Gunderson explained the procedures governing the conduct of public hearings to the audience and 
advised that the substantive review criteria were listed in the Staff report.  
 
ITEM 4(a):   
 
EX15-14 Exterior Alteration EX15-14 by Daniel Peters to rebuild the exterior stairs and add a two-story 

deck on the NW corner elevation and change a 1:1 window to multi-lite door on the North 
elevation (2nd floor) of an existing single family dwelling at 726 27th Street in the R-2, Medium 
Density Residential zone. The application was continued from the February 16, 2016 meeting. 

 
President Gunderson asked if anyone objected to the jurisdiction of the HLC to hear this matter at this time. 
There were no objections. President Gunderson asked if any member of the HLC had a conflict of interest, or 
any ex parte contacts to declare. None declared. President Gunderson requested a presentation of the Staff 
report.  
 
Planner Ferber presented the Staff report and recommended approval with conditions.  
 
Commissioner Osterberg asked if Staff had received a written response to each of the criteria from the 
Applicant. Planner Ferber said Staff did not receive a narrative, but she had met the Applicant on site to discuss 
the issues. 
 
President Gunderson asked which changes were suggested by John Goodenberger. Planner Ferber said Mr. 
Goodenberger had provided ideas about the design of the newel posts, suggested the front porch extend all the 
way to the bay window, and that lattice work be added underneath the porch and stairs. She understood that the 
renderings on Page 6 of the Staff report were based on a discussion between Mr. Goodenberger and the 
Applicant about the design issues.  
 
President Gunderson asked if Mr. Goodenberger supported what was proposed for the upstairs. Planner Ferber 
explained that if the Applicant were to do the upstairs, he would be required to complete all of the specific 



  

Historic Landmarks Commission 
Minutes 3-15-16 

Page 2 of 6 

modifications listed in the Staff report. A double porch is not traditional for Queen Anne style homes, but Mr. 
Goodenberger has said that if the double porch were to be built, it would need to be built as described in the 
Staff report. However, Mr. Goodenberger never indicated whether he was in favor of or opposed to the double 
porch on this house. 
 
Commissioner Osterberg believed the Staff report indicated the porch would not meet the criteria for approval 
even with all of the compromises, which only affect a few things. 
 
Commissioner Caruana said he reviewed the Staff report online and it appeared as if Staff had no desire to 
approve the second story deck. Planner Ferber confirmed Staff has remained neutral and the Staff report 
indicates how the deck does and does not meet the criteria. It is up to the HLC to decide whether the deck is 
appropriate. 
 
President Gunderson opened public testimony for the hearing and asked for the Applicant’s presentation. 
 
Daniel Peters, 726 27th Street, Astoria, said he met with both Planner Ferber and Mr. Goodenberger. Mr. 
Goodenberger met with him primarily at the house and suggested the porch be narrower and longer. The first 
floor deck is the same width as the side of the house and he shortened it by two feet. Mr. Goodenberger 
suggested he lower the handrail to make it more similar to a height used in the 1900s and increase the length of 
the second floor porch so that it extended over the bay window, but leave the width at six feet. Lattice work is 
typical for a Queen Anne era house. When he purchased the house, the real estate agent told him the house 
would be bulldozed if he had not bought it. He has done extensive remodeling to bring the house back to the way 
it was with the same windows and everything as original as possible. He just wants a place to have a cup of 
coffee with his wife on the second floor and have friends over to watch the ships go by, which he can only do 
now by looking through the windows of the house. He is trying to make the house look as original as possible 
and has done everything that has been asked of him by Mr. Goodenberger and Planner Ferber. He has brought 
the house back and made it look like a nice place. Mill Pond is one of the few places in the city from where the 
house can be seen. The house can also be seen from the Riverwalk, but it is so far away that the front is difficult 
to see. He would like to be able to make the outside of the house better than it is now. 
 
Commissioner Osterberg asked if Mr. Peters agreed with Mr. Goodenberger’s recommendations and planned to 
implement them. He also wanted to know what Mr. Peters thought about the conditions of approval listed on 
Pages 8 and 9 of the Staff report. Mr. Peters said he wanted to build a deck so that he can use it. The upstairs 
deck is bigger than what he originally needed, but if Mr. Goodenberger believes the larger size will make the 
deck look historically correct, he was fine with it. While the square footage is about the same, the recommended 
deck is longer. He just needs a spot for him and his wife to sit and have a cup of coffee. The bottom deck will be 
used as a place to sit and watch the ships go by when he has friends over. Only two people can sit on the 
existing recessed deck, so guests must sit in the house or in the grass. He has been on the Riverwalk and from 
his house, there is a very small window of visibility to anywhere else. He understood the house is historic and 
that is why Mr. Goodenberger and Planner Ferber came over. He is trying to keep the historic theme of what 
already exists. Most of the houses in the neighborhood are Queen Anne houses with protruding decks, so he did 
not understand why Staff has said Queen Anne style houses do not typically have protruding decks. According to 
paperwork he has, all Queen Anne houses have protruding decks. This paperwork was included in the original 
Staff report. He did not bring any photographs of Queen Anne houses with protruding decks because he did not 
believe it would be part of the issues now. However, photographs of Queen Anne houses with protruding decks 
in his neighborhood were included in the original Staff report from January. 
 
Director Cronin confirmed Staff was looking for the photographs in the January Staff report and in documents 
that may have been submitted during the January public hearing. President Gunderson did not recall seeing any 
such photographs during the January hearing. Commissioner Osterberg remembered hearing the Applicant 
describe photographs of other houses in the area that showed protruding decks at the January hearing, but the 
photographs were not submitted at that time. He also remembered telling the Applicant that since the hearing 
would be continued, the photographs could be submitted to the City. However, he did not see that those 
photographs had been submitted by the Applicant. Mr. Peters believed the original Staff report that he received 
included those photographs. 
 



  

Historic Landmarks Commission 
Minutes 3-15-16 

Page 3 of 6 

Commissioner Osterberg understood that the Applicant agreed with all of the conditions listed in the Staff report. 
Mr. Peters said the new drawings, which are based on Mr. Goodenberger’s recommendations, reflect that his 
plans had changed to accommodate Conditions of Approval 1(a), 2(a), and 3(a). 
 
President Gunderson called for any presentations by persons in favor of, impartial to, or against the application. 
Seeing none, she called for closing remarks of Staff. There were none. She closed the public testimony portion 
of the hearing and called for Commission discussion and deliberation. 
 
Commissioner Caruana said he did not mind the first floor deck, but he did not like decks that stop on bay 
windows. The deck should stop just short of the bay window with a return newel post. This would narrow the 
deck by about three feet. Or, the deck should extend all the way back to encompass the bay window completely. 
The first floor deck and railings will add charm and ii seems fitting for a house with a view. He referred to a 
photograph on Page 4 on the Staff report and explained where he preferred the deck to stop. He did not believe 
there was a way to make a second floor deck look authentic on the house unless it was a mirror image of the 
first floor. If the Applicant wants a second floor deck, it should be recessed. 
 
Vice President Dieffenbach did not mind the Applicant’s drawings. The Queen Anne style is a distinct style; 
however, there are many variables within the Queen Anne style. She did not mind the deck extending past the 
bay window, but did not like the deck stopping a third of the way over, as shown in the drawings. There are so 
many different aspects of the Queen Anne style and she believed Commissioner Caruana’s suggestions would 
look good. She did not mind the second floor deck because it stops short of the roof and hangs out over the bay 
window. It is important to keep the character of the style, but as history changes, no style is perfect. Every style is 
a bit of a give and take and she believed the plans worked with the Queen Anne style. The plans are not an 
exact match to the Queen Anne style, but she believed the plans do encompass the style and facilitate the needs 
and use of the house. 
 
Commissioner Caruana explained that the deck does not stop short of the bay and the roof of the deck actually 
goes into the roof of the house. There will be a newel post right on the window because the new railing will have 
to be 36-inches high, even though the house is historic. He suggested Vice President Dieffenbach consider the 
visual impact of this railing underneath the windows. He explained in detail how the house would look if the top 
deck stopped at the beginning of the bay window and the bottom deck extended beyond the bay. The bottom 
deck would look wider from several perspectives. Vice President Dieffenbach agreed with Commissioner 
Caruana.  
 
The Commission discussed Commissioner Caruana’s ideas about the upper and lower decks.  
 
Commissioner Osterberg did not want to talk to the Applicant about cutting away part of the house. He preferred 
to discuss modifying elements of the house that the Applicant had already proposed to add. 
 
Commissioner Stanley said he liked Commissioner Caruana’s suggestions, but only if the Applicant agreed. He 
did not believe it was his place to say what needs to be part of the house. He agreed the deck should be 
extended all the way around to the back of the house. If the Applicant did not agree with Commissioner 
Caruana’s suggestion for the top deck, he would go along with the proposed plans.  Commissioner Osterberg 
agreed with Commissioner Stanley’s basic direction. 
 
President Gunderson preferred a cut-out and was not thrilled with the proposed second floor deck. However, she 
did like the suggestions for the lower deck. She reopened the public hearing and asked the Applicant to come 
forward. 
 
Commissioner Caruana and Mr. Peters discussed the details of Commissioner Caruana’s suggestions. Mr. 
Peters said this would shorten the walkway and eliminate useable space. He described the topography of the 
property and stated which areas would be used. He did not want to make the changes Commissioner Caruana 
had suggested for the second floor deck because of the additional construction that would be necessary. His 
original drawings showed the deck stopping at the beginning of the bay window, but Mr. Goodenberger said the 
deck should extend all the way. He preferred a smaller deck on the top and a larger deck on the bottom. He also 
showed a code-compliant railing in his original drawings, but Mr. Goodenberger said the railing should match the 
historic value of the house. 
 



  

Historic Landmarks Commission 
Minutes 3-15-16 

Page 4 of 6 

Commissioner Osterberg said there might be some exception to the railing height. 
 
Mr. Peters added that the ceiling would be a bead board that would match the existing ceiling. 
 
Commissioner Caruana continued explaining his ideas to Staff.  
 
Vice President Dieffenbach said she did not like certain aspects of Commissioner Caruana’s plans. 
 
Commissioner Osterberg noted that Queen Anne houses did not need to be symmetrical and a variety of 
different details that are not uniform would be appropriate on a Queen Anne house. 
 
Vice President Dieffenbach explained her idea for extending the decks. 
 
Commissioner Caruana confirmed the Commission would be voting to approve a narrower top deck that stopped 
at the beginning of the bay window. He asked where the Commissioners believed the bottom deck should stop. 
 
Commissioner Stanley believed the deck should stop short of the bay window, but the decision must be the 
Applicant’s. 
 
Mr. Peters said he preferred the bottom deck stop at the first corner of the bay window. He liked the idea of 
having the newel posts and railing on the inside of the top deck. He and Commissioner Caruana discussed 
photographs of the house. 
 
Vice President Dieffenbach said the second floor decks on Queen Anne houses were always very small and 
personal. Wrapping the deck around the house would make the deck too big. 
 
Commissioner Stanley noted that the Applicant just wanted enough room to have a cup of coffee. Mr. Peters 
said the view from the window was not as good as it would be from the deck. 
 
Commissioner Caruana asked if the multi-pane door would be changed if the deck were approved. Mr. Peters 
said there was another entrance door off the south side of the house, which he did not believe was original. 
 
Mr. Peters confirmed he did not have the original window and the door was missing glass. It was a nightmare 
trying to find replacement glass. 
 
Director Cronin suggested the Commission organize their ideas according to architectural features when a 
motion is made to allow Staff to keep track of the individual features that are approved. 
 
Commissioner Caruana believed the proposed railings and the lower deck were fine. 
 
President Gunderson closed the public hearing. 
 
The Commission and Staff discussed options for amending the Staff report and how to word the motion.  
 
President Gunderson did not believe an upper deck was appropriate on a Queen Anne house. 
 
Commissioner Osterberg said he was in rough concordance with Mr. Goodenberger’s recommendations for the 
second floor deck because Mr. Goodenberger was able to determine that the deck met the criteria. 
 
Commissioner Caruana believed it would be strange to leave the bay window and deck sticking out with the first 
floor deck wrapping around the house. Vice President Dieffenbach agreed. 
 
The Commission took several minutes discussing the details of some proposed changes with Staff.  
 
President Gunderson confirmed that the Applicant wanted to speak and reopened the public hearing.  
 
Mr. Peters answered Commissioner questions about the house as the Commission described the details of the 
changes they wanted Mr. Peters to make to his project.  



  

Historic Landmarks Commission 
Minutes 3-15-16 

Page 5 of 6 

 
President Gunderson closed the public hearing. She appreciated that everyone was working together and the 
Commission wants to give the Applicant what he wants. However, there has been a lot of back and forth about 
the details. Therefore, she proposed the hearing be continued so that Staff could present renderings of what has 
been proposed. She did not want to make the Applicant return, but believed it was worthwhile for the 
Commission to have a solid plan with specific details and drawings. 
 
Commissioner Caruana understood issues with the upper deck had been resolved and the materials were fine, 
but the Commission needed to give the Applicant direction on the lower deck so that he could come back with 
plans that would be approved. 
 
The Commission discussed details of the house and options for the lower deck. The Commission agreed that 
two design alternatives met the criteria and the Applicant could choose which design to build. Commissioner 
Caruana had concerns about one of the design alternatives, but noted it would not be highly visible. 
Commissioner Osterberg said once a design is chosen, the Applicant will present the design details to the HLC 
for review and specific issues can be addressed at that time. 
 
President Gunderson stated the motion would need to be very specific so that the Applicant would not have to 
come back next month with a new set of ideas. She asked Staff to recommend wording for the motion. 
 
Director Cronin said the architectural features could be listed individually with direction to the Applicant about 
what to bring back to the HLC. The Commission could also provide general direction with one motion so that 
Staff could work with the Applicant based on the discussions at this hearing. He confirmed that the sketches 
made during this hearing would be added to an updated Staff report. 
 
Commissioner Caruana moved that the Historic Landmarks Commission (HLC) adopt the Findings and 
Conclusions contained in the Staff report and approve Exterior Alteration EX15-14 by Daniel Peters with the 
following additional condition: 
• The HLC will approve the architectural details with respect to the posts, balustrades, materials, and lattice 

work. 
Motion seconded by Commissioner Stanley. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Vice President Dieffenbach moved that the Historic Landmarks Commission (HLC) adopt the Findings and 
Conclusions contained in the Staff report and approve Exterior Alteration EX15-14 by Daniel Peters with the 
following additional conditions: 
• If the bottom of the lower deck aligns with the bottom of the bay window, the deck must stop at the corner of 

the first outside corner of the bay window. 
• If the bottom of the lower deck does not align with the bottom of the bay window, the deck must extend past 

the bay window. 
Motion seconded by Commissioner Stanley. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Vice President Dieffenbach moved that the Historic Landmarks Commission (HLC) adopt the Findings and 
Conclusions contained in the Staff report and approve Exterior Alteration EX15-14 by Daniel Peters with the 
following additional conditions: 
• The second floor deck shall extend out six feet, as proposed. 
• The northeast corner of the deck must be eight to ten inches from the corner of the building, set to the west. 
• The newel posts on the east side of the deck must align with existing trim on the corner of the porch. 
Motion seconded by Commissioner Caruana. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Vice President Dieffenbach moved that the Historic Landmarks Commission (HLC) continue the hearing of 
Exterior Alteration EX15-14 by Daniel Peters to the April 19, 2016 meeting and direct Staff to present more 
accurate drawings, information, and accurate scale drawings that support the Findings and Conclusions.  
Motion seconded by Commissioner Stanley. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
REPORTS OF OFFICERS/COMMISSIONERS – ITEM 5:  - None. 
 



  

Historic Landmarks Commission 
Minutes 3-15-16 

Page 6 of 6 

h 

NEW BUSINESS – ITEM 6:  
 
Item 6(a):  2016 Dr. Edward Harvey Historic Preservation Award Nominations 

 
Director Cronin said a press release was sent out about the award. He encouraged the Commissioners to submit 
their own nominations. All nominations will be discussed at the April meeting. 
 

Item 6(b):  Certified Local Government (CLG) Grant Application 
Director Cronin stated the application has been submitted. This $12,000 grant will provide funds for a pass-
through façade renovation funds for historic commercial and residential properties particularly on windows, 
storefronts, and entryways, funds for architectural assistance for historic buildings, and funds to help the City 
determine approvable materials and products. 
 

Item 6(c):  State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) Tax Incentive Training 
Planner Ferber stated she had been nominated for tax incentive training in Washington D.C. in July and the 
application to attend has been submitted. The tax incentives were applicable to small towns, restoration, 
development, etc. 
 

Item 6(d):  Columbia Pacific Preservation (CPP) Goals 
 
Director Cronin said the CPP has been meeting regularly and recently prioritized goals for the work program. 
Goals will focus on Uniontown, the Flavel commercial building, and the maker space that the Historic 
Preservation Program has been wanting to implement. 
 
STATUS REPORTS – ITEM 7(a): 

 
Planner Ferber has included status report photographs of the following: EX14-07 for 813 14th Street and 
NC15-02 for 1542 Grand. The projects are complete or near completion and conditions have been met. 
These status report photographs are for Commission information. 

 
The Commission and Staff briefly discussed the projects. Director Cronin encouraged Commissioners to provide 
feedback on the new construction projects because there were issues with the application and permitting 
process that he was trying to resolve. 
 
Planner Ferber added that a new house was being built at 275 29th Street in Mill Pond. The property owners are 
working with their contractor to make changes that would address some of Staff’s concerns about the project. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT – ITEM 8: 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 6:55 p.m. 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Community Development Director 
 



Page 1 of 3 

Parks Advisory Board Meeting Minutes 
January 27, 2016 

 
Chairperson Norma Hernandez called meeting to Order at 6:50 am.  
 
New Board Member Introductions 
Board members shared introductions and President Hernandez reminded the Board of their role and 
responsibilities. 
 
Present- Norma Hernandez, Jessica Schleif, Andrew Fick, Tammy Loughran, Jim Holen, Eric Halverson, 
Aaron Crocket, and Josey Ballenger. 
 
Absent- Joe Miltenberger, Drew Herzig, Grace Laman, and Howard Rub 
 
Staff- Angela Cosby, Jonah Dart-McLean, Terra Patterson, Chelsea Cameron, Erin Reilly, Ian Sisson, 
Melissa Keyser, and Brad Johnston. 
 
Approval of Minutes 
A. December minutes were unanimously approved. 
 
Public Comments 
 
President Hernandez 
A. What do you hear- Eric Halverson had heard complaints about the fee increases at the pool. Andrew 

Fick heard that people involved with the Parks Master Plan are excited and interested to learn about 
the parks. He also heard concerns about the cell phone tower at Shively Park. Jim Holen discussed 
feedback he has received on signage. President Hernandez heard that many people are impressed 
with Ian Sisson and how quickly the master planning process is going. Jessica Schleif read in the 
newspaper that the bus would no longer come to the Recreation Center or Senior Center. She called 
the transit office to share her concerns about the teens that ride the bus to the teen center and 
learned that a bus would still stop at the Short Stop. Staff Patterson mentioned that the school district 
does have the center set up as a bus stop for middle school students. 

 
Employee Recognition 
Director Cosby and Erin Reilly recognized Chelsea Cameron as the January employee of the month.  
 
Parks Staff introduced themselves to the new Board members. The Board and Staff discussed Facebook 
posts about Shively Hall. A participant at the event posted a comment about the fireplace and volunteered 
to help the Parks Department with historic restoration research. 

 
Old Business 
A. Tammy Loughran gave an update on the Parks Foundation. At their recent retreat, the Foundation 

discussed goals, rewrote their mission statement, and planned upcoming fundraisers. The 
Foundation’s goal is to raise $12,000 for scholarships and $2,000 for operating expenses. 

B. Director Cosby gave an update on the platform at People’s Park. Staff has informed the contractors 
that the platform needs to be removed by the end of February. If the contractors cannot complete the 
work by then, the Parks Department will have to spend funds to get it removed. 

C. Director Cosby updated the Board on the Maritime Memorial Committee meeting held earlier in 
January. The Committee continues to work on expanding the memorial wall because it will run out of 
space in two years.  

D. Ian Sisson reviewed the project timeline for the Parks Master Plan and the work completed during the 
first phase of the project. The online survey received 881 responses and paper copies of the survey 
are still being collected. All of the community outreach, including the survey, focus groups, and input 
sessions, has enabled Staff to reach over 1,000 people. 

 



Page 2 of 3 

New Business 
A. Ian Sisson shared the results of the online Master Plan survey. Responses indicated that Astorians 

believe parks and recreation opportunities are important to their quality of life and that they are 
satisfied with the opportunities currently being offered. The main user groups are families, children, 
and low-income people. The community believes Astoria has just the right amount of parks and 
investments should be made in playground equipment, maintenance and improvements to natural 
areas, and historic and cultural sites. Most responses indicated Astoria has just enough or not 
enough trails and more should be invested in maintaining, improving, and connecting existing trails, 
and to improve signage. Respondents were happy with the number of facilities and indicated 
investments should be made in maintenance and improvements at the Aquatic Center, which is the 
most used facility. The Recreation Center and public restrooms were also priorities. The most visited 
parks include the Column, Tapiola, Shively, Fred Lindstrom, and Youngs River Falls. The least visited 
parks are the Customs House, Birch Field, Tidal Rock Park, Violet LaPlante, and Post Office Park. 
The Board and Staff discussed the reasons Violet LaPlante and Post Office Parks are not often used 
and the need for several different types of parks. Survey respondents were asked what their priorities 
would be if they were in charge of the Parks Department. Most people said maintenance, trails, 
natural areas, fitness facilities, and playgrounds would be their top priorities. Special events ranked 
low for this question, but ranked high in a question about services offered by the Parks Department. 
The most utilized programs and services include runs and walks, Li’l Sprouts, swimming lessons, 
special events, and memberships.  
 
He is still processing feedback from the focus groups, which included City Staff, downtown 
businesses, historic and cultural preservation groups, parents clubs, the Parks Foundation, public 
health and social service organizations, service organizations, trails and natural area groups, and 
youth athletics providers. He still needs feedback from Aquatic Center user groups and will be making 
a presentation at the Lower Columbia Hispanic Council Board meeting on February 16th. He plans to 
meet with seniors at the Senior Center once they are settled in to the new building.  
 
The level of service analysis compared Astoria’s services to State benchmarks and indicates Astoria 
is generally well served. However, Astoria only has one urban closet park, the Garden of Surging 
Waves. If Heritage Square is redeveloped with a plaza park space, the urban closet park requirement 
would be met. Astoria does not have any regional parks, which are at least 100 acres, but there are 
several within five miles. Destination parks include the Column and Youngs River Falls. The city is 
well served with trails, facilities, amenities, and nearby access to the services Astoria does not offer. 
He displayed a working list of peer communities that Astoria will measure itself against. 
 
Next steps include a Citizen Advisory Committee meeting on January 28th, processing and 
documenting community feedback, creating a draft copy of the level of service analysis and initial 
recommendations sections of the plan, and updating City Council in February or March. 
 

B. Director Cosby gave a report on the Parks Department retreat and goal setting session in December. 
She reviewed the goals for 2015 and updated the Board on how the department achieved each goal. 
Goals for 2016 are to improve internal and external communications, implement the Master Plan, 
create inventories for the facilities and maintenance plans at each site, improve employee 
development programs, increase volunteerism, and improve the Recreation Center and maintenance 
shops. She confirmed she wanted volunteerism to increase overall, not just within the Chip-In 
program. She described the current employee development program, which begins with recruitment 
and hiring procedures.  

C. Director Cosby updated the Board on the Senior Center restoration project. The grand opening of the 
renovated Senior Center will be on February 16th from 3:00 pm to 5:30 pm.    

D. Assistant City Manager Brad Johnston reported on the wireless communication tower proposed for 
Shively Park. He explained that the information presented to the Parks Board in December 2014 and 
January 2015 was inaccurate. Staff was depending on Verizon to provide the information because 
Staff does not have anyone dedicated to or an expert on cell phone towers. When the appeals were 
filed, Staff agreed that the original photo simulations were not accurate and they asked Verizon to 
provide better photos. City Council approved the appeals at their meeting on January 19th and they 
will adopt the findings at their next meeting on February 1st. City Council found that the land use did 



Page 3 of 3 

not meet City Codes. This project was tied to the removal of the tower at the Column. As a matter of 
policy, the tower at Shively was a compromise because the tower would have been tucked into the 
back corner and Shively Park receives fewer visitors than the Column. The tower would have added 
$36,000 in annual Parks revenue and co-location on the tower would have added $90,000 in annual 
revenue. He will be speaking with Verizon’s contractor about removing the tower at the Column later 
in the day. He was unsure if the tower at the reservoir would still be built. Verizon’s lease at Astor 
Park expires in August. If the lease is not renewed, Verizon’s signal in Astoria will be very weak and 
the City will have to change carriers. At the City Council meeting, Mayor LaMear talked about the 
government’s responsibility to ensure citizens have reasonable access to utilities, but the city is 
running out of hilltops. 

 
He believed City Council would have had a more difficult time denying the project if Verizon had 
submitted accurate information from the very beginning. He answered questions from the Board 
about Converge Communication’s role in the project, City Council’s directive to remove the tower at 
the Column, the City’s need for upgraded emergency communications equipment, and the 
Community Development Department’s process. He explained the basis of the appeals, which argued 
that the decisions to grant the permits were invalid because they were based on inaccurate 
information. 

 
The Board and Staff discussed how the inaccurate data affected the credibility of City employees and 
Board members. Staff planned to be much more critical of these requests in the future. Assistant City 
Manager Johnston explained that the wireless communication section of the Development Code was 
adopted in response to the tower at the Column, which would never be approved today. The 
Development Code makes it very difficult to put a tower in Astoria. Staff reviewed the issues with the 
tower at the Column and how City Council decided that it should be removed. Without a tower at the 
Column or Shively Park, Staff will need eight to ten sites for emergency communications facilities in 
order to maintain current coverage, which would make the system complex and expensive.  
 
The following reports were presented to the Board as part of the agenda packet: 
E. Parks Maintenance Projects 
F. The CHIP-in Program 
G. Lil Sprouts/Port of Play  
H. Recreation Center, Programs, Fitness and Athletics  
I. Ocean View Cemetery 
J. The  Aquatic Center 
K. Master Plan 

 
Upcoming Events 
1. Director Cosby updated the Board on upcoming events. 

 
Next meeting will be held Wednesday, February 24, 2016 at 6:45 am at the Astoria Recreation 
Center. 
 



  

Astoria Planning Commission  
Minutes 03-22-2016 

Page 1 of 4   

ASTORIA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING    
Astoria City Hall 
March 22, 2016 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 
 
President Pearson called the meeting to order at 6:26 pm. 
 
ROLL CALL:  
 
Commissioners Present: President David Pearson, Vice President Kent Easom, McLaren Innes, Sean 

Fitzpatrick, Daryl Moore, Jan Mitchell and Frank Spence 
 
Staff Present:  Community Development Director Kevin Cronin, Planner Nancy Ferber, and 

RARE AmeriCorps Planner Ian Sisson. The meeting is recorded and will be 
transcribed by ABC Transcription Services, Inc. 

 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 
President Pearson asked for approval of the minutes of the February 23, 2016 meeting. Commissioner Innes 
moved that the Astoria Planning Commission approve the minutes as presented; seconded by Commissioner 
Easom. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 
President Pearson explained the procedures governing the conduct of public hearings to the audience and 
advised that handouts of the substantive review criteria were available from Staff. 
 
ITEM 4(a): 
 
AEP16-02 Amendment to Existing Permit AEP16-02 for Subdivision Permit SP06-02 by Dale Barrett 

for Fred Van Horn to relocation the fire access and parking easement on the existing plat at 
433-435-441 30th Street in the C-3, General Commercial zone. 

 
President Pearson asked if anyone objected to the jurisdiction of the Planning Commission to hear this matter at 
this time. There were no objections. He asked if any member of the Planning Commission had any conflicts of 
interest or ex parte contacts to declare.  
 
Vice President Easom declared that he represented many people on the application and stepped down from the 
dais. 
 
President Pearson asked Staff to present the Staff report. 
 
Planner Ferber reviewed the written Staff report. The only correspondence was an email from Fred Van Horn, 
which was included in the Staff report. Staff recommended approval of the request with the conditions listed in 
the Staff report. 
 
Commissioner Spence said he drove by the site twice and looking at the picture, he could not tell where the 
easement and parking would be shifted. There is parking in front of the dental building and the units on Columbia 
Crossing, as well as parking along 30th Street. He asked for clarification about the proposal. 
 
Planner Ferber explained the old easement provided parking right next to the building, which she pointed to on a 
photograph. The Applicant has proposed to switch the access to the parking so that emergency vehicles can get 
through to nearby homes. Commissioners noted that this would move the parking to a parking area already 
designated for the dental office. 
 
Commissioner Spence said the apartments should have sufficient parking, but the parking lot was full. He noted 
that the original permit required a 25-foot wide egress to accommodate emergency vehicles. He asked if there 



  

Astoria Planning Commission  
Minutes 03-22-2016 

Page 2 of 4   

was a mistake on the original plat or if the building encroached into the 25-foot right-of-way. He could see on the 
photograph that it was a tight space for emergency vehicles because there was parking on both sides of the 
right-of-way. Director Cronin understood that something transpired between the original plat approval in 2006 
and today. Staff is simply trying to accommodate what was done during that time to ensure adequate emergency 
access. Planner Ferber confirmed that the Fire Chief has reviewed this application and found it acceptable. This 
proposal is a much less expensive alternative than requiring a sprinkler system. 
 
Commissioner Spence said he was satisfied since the Fire Chief had approved the request. 
 
President Pearson opened the public hearing and called for a presentation by the Applicant. 
 
Dale Barrett, 4253 A Highway 101 North, Gearhart, presented drawings of the proposed project at the dais. He 
noted the drawings were not 100 percent accurate, but showed where the parking and new easement would be 
on the same aerial photograph that was displayed on the screen. The new easement will be up against the 
building, but the parking spaces have already been in place for quite some time. To correct the situation to fit the 
existing parking, the lot created when the Columbia Landing subdivision was created will have to be replatted. 
The structure in the photograph is the remainder of the Columbia Landing residences. The last lot abuts against 
the parking. The Fire Department said the area had to remain clear, so all of the parking would have to be 
moved to the other side. He worked with City Staff and found the best thing to do would be to adjust the 25-foot 
fire lane. The Staff report includes small versions of the proposed replat, which requires this public hearing. The 
proposal is to move the fire lane from up against the townhome buildings out into the existing driving lane. The 
original plat specified 25 feet and he would simply like to move it. The packet shows where the proposed 
easement will be located. It will be no problem for a fire truck to fit and the Fire Chief has indicated the proposal 
is acceptable. The parking area will be switched to the west side and the 6-foot wide walkway easement will 
remain unchanged. The only easements being moved will be the parking easement and the ingress/egress. The 
packet also shows the existing conditions of the plat prior to the proposed changes. Once this request is 
approved, the Public Works Director and County Surveyor will have to approve the changes because the fire 
lane was on the previous plat. 
 
President Pearson called for any testimony in favor of, impartial to, or opposed to the application. Hearing none, 
he called for closing comments of Staff. There were none. He closed the public hearing and called for 
Commission discussion and deliberation. 
 
President Pearson said Staff did a great job preparing a thoroughly researched report. Director Cronin added 
that Rosemary Johnson assisted with this application. 
 
Commissioner Moore moved that the Astoria Planning Commission adopt the Findings and Conclusions 
contained in the Staff report and approve Amendment to Existing Permit AEP16-02 by the Dale Barrett; 
seconded by Commissioner Fitzpatrick. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
President Pearson read the rules of appeal into the record. 
 
Vice President Easom returned to the dais. 
 
ITEM 4(b): 
 
CU16-02 Conditional Use CU16-02 by Nicholas Palazzo for The Farmacy to locate light 

manufacturing (grow marijuana) in the basement of an existing retail space at 2911 Marine 
Drive, Suite #D in the C-3, General Commercial zone.  

 
President Pearson asked if anyone objected to the jurisdiction of the Planning Commission to hear this matter at 
this time. There were no objections. He asked if any member of the Planning Commission had any conflicts of 
interest or ex parte contacts to declare. Hearing none, he asked Staff to present the Staff report. 
 
Planner Ferber reviewed the written Staff report. No correspondence had been received and Staff recommended 
approval of the request with the conditions listed in the Staff report. 
 
President Pearson opened the public hearing and called for a presentation by the Applicant. 



  

Astoria Planning Commission  
Minutes 03-22-2016 

Page 3 of 4   

 
Nicholas Palazzo, 643 10th Street, Astoria, stated he did not have a presentation, but would answer questions. 
 
Vice President Easom confirmed that the relocation of the daycare center was not related to the Applicant’s 
business. 
 
Commissioner Spence understood marijuana growing required a lot of heat and electricity and said he was 
concerned about the safety of heat in the basement of the building. He confirmed that the Fire Chief had 
reviewed and approved the application and therefore, he was satisfied. 
 
President Pearson called for any testimony in favor of, impartial to, or opposed to the application. Hearing none, 
he called for closing comments of Staff. There were none. He closed the public hearing and called for 
Commission discussion and deliberation. 
 
Vice President Easom said he believed this was a good use of a basement area. Commissioner Fitzpatrick 
stated the request appeared to meet the criteria and he agreed it would be a very efficient use of the space. 
 
Vice President Easom moved that the Astoria Planning Commission adopt the Findings and Conclusions 
contained in the Staff report and approve Conditional Use CU16-02 by Nicholas Palazzo; seconded by 
Commissioner Fitzpatrick. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
President Pearson read the rules of appeal into the record. 
 
REPORTS OF OFFICERS/COMMISSIONERS:  
 
Commissioner Innes reported that the City of Gearhart uses the legal notice section of the Daily Astorian as a 
mechanism for reminding citizens to remove noxious vegetation. She suggested Astoria post reminders that 
citizens must take care of the sidewalks. 
 
Commissioner Fitzpatrick asked if Staff could review the derelict building ordinance because several people 
have asked him how the ordinance is enforced. Director Cronin explained Astoria had a vacant building 
ordinance and a derelict building ordinance. Both ordinances allow the City to take action on derelict properties. 
Staff is working on a list of properties that need to be cleaned up and will not look for additional properties until 
the backlog is caught up. He briefly discussed the property at 559 Alameda, which continuously changes 
ownership through the foreclosure process. Citizens with concerns should be directed to Director Cronin 
because Astoria does not have a designated code enforcement officer. 
 
Commissioner Fitzpatrick said 936 Grand recently changed ownership. A debris box was placed on the property 
and the owners hired someone to remove trash from the interior of the house. However, much of the debris was 
not removed. The Commission and Staff discussed this house and the adjacent properties on Grand. Director 
Cronin stated he would look into the issue. 
 
Commissioner Spence and Director Cronin discussed Astoria’s need for a code enforcement officer. Staff did 
not anticipate additional funds for an officer, but the City would be recruiting a new building official soon. The 
entire Community Development Department would work together on the issues. 
 
Director Cronin said in January, Commissioner Fitzpatrick recommended code enforcement at a property on the 
corner of 8th and Harrison. He reported that the issues with the hedge had been resolved. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: None 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 
 
 Item 7(a):  Parks Master Plan Update 
 
Ian Sisson, 1263 Commercial Street, Astoria, introduced himself and noted that Astoria has never had a 
comprehensive master plan for the Parks Department. He updated the Commission on the Parks Master 
Planning process with a PowerPoint presentation that included a timeline, scope of work, details of community 



  

Astoria Planning Commission  
Minutes 03-22-2016 

Page 4 of 4   

outreach, and next steps. The Citizens Advisory Committee (CAC), appointed by the Mayor to oversee the 
project, is currently reviewing the draft master plan. After the CAC and Parks Advisory Board have approved the 
master plan, the Planning Commission will review, and hopefully approve and recommend City Council adopt the 
plan. 
 
Director Cronin asked which public involvement strategy has been the most successful. Mr. Sisson said the City 
received almost 900 responses to the online surveys, which were announced on Facebook, in press releases, at 
City Council meetings, on the radio, in emails, and on flyers placed at all Parks facilities. The survey was 
incentivized by providing park passes. 
 
STATUS REPORTS: 

 
Planner Ferber has included status report photographs of the following: 1542 Grand, V14-18. The 
project is complete and conditions have been met. These status report photographs are for Commission 
information. 

 
The Commission and Staff briefly discussed the details of the project. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS: None. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:07 pm. 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Community Development Director  



  

Astoria Planning Commission  
Minutes 03-22-2016 

Page 1 of 3   

ASTORIA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING  WORK SESSION  
Astoria City Hall 
March 22, 2016 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 
 
President Pearson called the work session to order at 5:30 pm. 
 
ROLL CALL:  
 
Commissioners Present: President David Pearson, Vice President Kent Easom, McLaren Innes, Sean 

Fitzpatrick, Daryl Moore, Jan Mitchell and Frank Spence 
 
Staff Present:  Community Development Director Kevin Cronin and Planner Nancy Ferber. The 

meeting is recorded and will be transcribed by ABC Transcription Services, Inc. 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 
 
 Item 1 (a):  Code Amendment Updates 
 
Director Cronin presented the Staff report, which included emails, articles, and proposed Code amendments. At 
the dais, Commissioners had copies of a case study on townhouses and row houses. He noted that Staff has 
begun using a zoning checklist during pre-application conferences to help applicants understand what is 
expected when they submit an application. The Commission and Staff discussed the proposed amendments to 
Articles 3 and 9, as follows:  
• The Commission was concerned that the on-site signs would create additional work for staff. Director Cronin 

explained that no state law requires notices to be posted on site, but many jurisdictions do. Currently, only 
property owners are sent notices, so renters are unaware of public hearings unless they see the notices on 
the City’s website. Posting notices on site increases the City’s transparency. The on-site signs will be made 
of weather resistant materials and anchored so they will not be blown away. They will only be posted during 
the time the application is active. Various methods will be used to affix the signs, depending on what works 
best at each site. 

• The Commission agreed that the language proposed for Section 3.020(2) (a) was a bit ambiguous. It 
seemed to state that a detached garage could not be converted to an accessory dwelling unit (ADU), but an 
ADU could be built above a detached garage. 

• Single-family lots with tiny homes would still have to comply with lot coverage standards. If a lot were large 
enough to accommodate multiple tiny homes, another section of the Zoning Code would apply. 
• A tiny home could be manufactured on or off site, but must be less than 500 square feet and must be 

placed on a foundation. Tiny homes will not be allowed to sit on wheels, which will separate tiny houses 
from recreation vehicles. 

• Row houses are built to look identical to each other, but townhouses have different architectural features and 
designs. Director Cronin showed photographs and described which features defined Columbia Landing as 
townhouses and Martin Townhomes as row houses. Higher lot coverage will be necessary for these types of 
housing units. The case study showed that both townhouses and row houses work well in Astoria because 
the form of the buildings can fit the site. Both urban and neighborhood settings can accommodate these 
units.  

 
Director Cronin reviewed the proposed changes to residential zoning codes, which are intended to help fulfill the 
housing needs in Astoria. He asked the Commission to consider the housing study as they discussed the 
proposed amendments. He noted that residential zones have maximum density standards and most property 
owners have reached their density limits. 
 
The Commissioners discussed the recommended lot coverages, which Commissioner Easom said he liked. The 
discussion continued, as follows: 
• Astoria has a lot of 9,000 and 10,000 square foot lots and current Codes offer no incentive to partition those 

lots, which would require a variance. Staff has seen a significant demand for these variances. The 
recommended lot coverage would allow a 9,000 square foot lot to be divided. Townhouses and row houses 
have lot coverages that are different from multifamily dwellings because the townhouses and row houses will 



  

Astoria Planning Commission  
Minutes 03-22-2016 

Page 2 of 3   

be larger than apartments. Commissioner Moore noted that a duplex could be referred to as two row 
houses. However, the duplex could be 5,000 square feet, but two row houses could be 5,500 square feet. 
Director Cronin stated he would reconsider those lot coverage recommendations. 

• Reducing the size of duplexes to 5,000 square feet could potentially allow single-family homes to be 
converted to duplexes. Staff has not seen a demand for this type of development, but this recommendation 
would provide an incentive to redevelop a vacant or underutilized home. He explained that parking has been 
a stumbling block for many projects because off-street parking is required. 

• Commissioner Moore suggested the recommended lot coverage in the R-3, high-density zones be lowered 
to 2,500 square feet so that a 5,000 square foot unit could be divided. If two townhomes or row houses were 
allowed on 5,000 square foot lot, why would the City not allow two single-family units on a 5,000 square foot 
lot? Director Cronin explained that even though the recommendations are more flexible, there are still other 
standards that must be met. In order for Astoria to continue to provide new housing, the new housing will 
have to include multi-family dwellings. 

• Director Cronin confirmed that Article 2 on Page 12 should state the minimum lot size for a multi-family 
development in the R-3 zone would be 5,000 for the first unit, plus 1,000 square feet for each additional unit.  

• Lot coverages for multi-family units are different from row houses and townhouses because multi-family 
units are typically built on a single lot managed by a property manager, but townhouses and row houses are 
built on fee simple lots and each house is owned by separate individuals. Condominium owners own the unit, 
but not the land, and pay into the ownership of common areas. While townhouses and row houses have 
owners associations, the property owners own the land and the building. The recommended lot sizes allow 
Staff to calculate the number of units allowed on a lot and track density in each zone. 

 
The Commissioners agreed that the recommended Code amendments were ready for a public hearing. Director 
Cronin asked the Commission to discuss the recommended standards for vacation rentals. 
 
Commissioner Spence asked why vacation rentals were recommended in commercial zones only. The 
Commission recently reviewed an application for a bed and breakfast in a residential zone. Even though the 
Applicant had been cited, he continued to advertise his rental units. 
 
Director Cronin explained that vacation rentals could be operated by someone other than the property owner. 
However, home stay lodgings must be managed by the property owner and the property owner must live on the 
property. Bed and breakfasts are required to provide a morning meal and the manager must live on the property, 
but the manager could be someone other than the property owner. Unfortunately, vacation rental is typically used 
to define all types of lodgings. The sharing economy has revolutionized this industry and third-party websites 
allow property owners to manage these properties with ease. He confirmed that the recent application was for a 
conditional use permit to allow a bed and breakfast, which the Commission denied.  
• Staff is not recommending any changes for these lodgings, but Staff does not have the time to enforce the 

existing Codes. He suggested a safety inspection program be added to the City’s Code. Anyone who 
operates a business from their home should have a fire extinguisher, smoke alarm, first aid kit, a tsunami 
map, and basic emergency information. The City could charge a small fee for Staff time to conduct a quick 
inspection. 

• Astoria has about 45 postings on the third-party websites and Staff will confirm that each property complies 
with the laws. However, there are property owners who are not using those websites. He confirmed that 
home stay lodgings have to pay hotel taxes, but property owners who are renting out their entire home for 
three days are in violation. Unless Staff receives complaints, the City cannot enforce current Codes. Every 
jurisdiction is dealing with enforcement issues.  

• When Staff receives evidence that a property owner is in violation, Staff sends a letter. If the property owner 
does not comply, a second notice is sent. If the property owner still does not comply, they must appear 
before a judge in municipal court, who can issue fines. If the owner does not pay the fines, the City can take 
other measures. 

 
President Pearson confirmed Commissioners had no further comments for Staff. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT:  
 
Unidentified Speaker said he was number 49 on the lodging list. He believed the property owners were being 
unjust by failing to pay for lodging permits. There are numerous lodgings that are illegal and do not pay taxes. 
The City of Eugene has spent a fortune on their track and field complex, which was funded by lodging taxes. 



  

Astoria Planning Commission  
Minutes 03-22-2016 

Page 3 of 3   

Cannon Beach and the surrounding areas are making a lot of money. But Astoria has strict regulations and very 
limited parking. He has a lodging permit; however, it is impossible to tell if he is hosting family or renting to a 
vacationer. He has had neighbors complain when his brother visits from out of town. It is more difficult for the 
City to keep track of the lodging permits than bed and breakfasts. But it would be great if the City could 
encourage home stay lodgings because the tax revenue would be great for the City. 
 
ADJOURNMENT TO REGULAR MEETING: 
 
There being no further business, the work session was adjourned at 6:19 pm to convene the regular Astoria 
Planning Commission meeting.  
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Community Development Director  



  

Traffic Safety Advisory Committee 
January 26, 2016 

Page 1       
  

ASTORIA TRAFFIC SAFETY ADVISORY COMMITTEE    
Astoria City Hall 
January 26, 2016 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 
 
President Pearson called the meeting to order at 6:30 pm. 
 
Director Cronin introduced new City Planner, Nancy Ferber, noting she had been able to attend several City meetings 
in the six weeks she had been working at the City.  
 
ELECTION OF OFFICERS: 
 
This item was addressed immediately following Item 3: Roll Call. 
 

In accordance with Sections 1.110 and 1.115 of the Astoria Development Code, the Traffic Safety Committee 
needs to elect officers for 2016. The 2015 officers were President Dave Pearson, Vice President McLaren 
Innes, and Secretary Sherri Williams. 

 
Vice President Innes moved that the Traffic Safety Committee re-elect David Pearson as President for 2016, seconded 
by Commissioner Fitzpatrick. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
President Pearson moved that the Traffic Safety Committee elect Kent Easom as Vice President for 2016, seconded by 
Vice President Innes. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
President Pearson moved that the Traffic Safety Committee re-elect Sherri Williams as Secretary for 2016, seconded 
by Vice President Innes. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
ROLL CALL:  
 
Commissioners Present:  President David Pearson, Vice President Kent Easom, McLaren Innes, Sean 

Fitzpatrick, Daryl Moore, and Frank Spence 
 
Commissioners Excused:  Jan Mitchell 
 
Staff Present:  Planner Nancy Ferber, Community Development Director Kevin Cronin, and Police 

Sergeant Brian Aydt. The meeting is recorded and will be transcribed by ABC 
Transcription Services, Inc.  

 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  
 
Commissioner Innes moved that the Traffic Safety Committee approve the minutes of October 27, 2015 as presented, 
seconded by Vice President Easom. Motion passed unanimously. 
 
REPORT OF OFFICERS:  
 

Item 5(a): Project Updates – Kevin Cronin 
 

Director Cronin updated the TSC on several projects, as follows: 
• Right Turns Permitted Without Stopping Traffic Study: In December 2015, City Council decided to move forward 

with the striping reconfiguration at 8th and Irving. No other recommendations in the study would be implemented or 
readdressed unless the City heard from citizens that issues still exist at the intersections in the study. Staff plans to 
complete the striping work over the summer. 

• Bridge at Irving Avenue and 19th Street: A ribbon cutting ceremony was held in November 2015 and punch list 
items are being completed. 

• Waterfront Bridges Replacement (Bridge Ends) Project: The City received a grant to replace the rights-of-way that 
end at the river from 6th Street to 11th Street. A consultant has assessed the structural supports under the bridges. 



  

Traffic Safety Advisory Committee 
January 26, 2016 

Page 2       
  

Cindy Moore is the project manager on this project and the full design engineering phase will begin in 2016. 
Construction is expected to begin in the fall of 2017. 

• Hanover Sidewalks Project: Astoria received a grant from Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) to build 
sidewalks near the high school. The design consultant selection process will begin in February or March. This 
project was identified in the Transportation System Plan (TSP).  

• 23rd Street and Franklin Avenue Access Management Project: The old gas station at this intersection will be 
demolished and the street will be reconfigured to eliminate the hard right turn by the urgent care center. Columbia 
Memorial Hospital (CMH) will administer the construction contract and demolition will begin in the summer. 

• Pedestrian Safety Enhancements Program: Astoria has an Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with ODOT to 
upgrade the pedestrian signals on 33rd Street at Safeway. Public Works continues to help the Police Department 
secure funding for a portable speed reader. Upgrades to the downtown traffic signals will cost $450,000 and work 
on that project should begin in 2016. 

 
Commissioner Moore said when it is raining and dark, it is not possible to see pedestrians crossing the street when 
turning left from 33rd Street. Many drivers are not diligent about this and he was happy to learn there would be lighting 
at that location. 
 
Sergeant Aydt stated Staff was still exploring speed board grant opportunities, but opted not to apply for an ODOT 
grant because the requirements made the project too cumbersome. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS: 
 
Pam Myers, 218 Franklin Avenue, Astoria, said when she permanently moves to Astoria, she would love to do 
something about Franklin Avenue. The street goes uphill with a sharp left turn and many kids skateboard down the hill. 
Cars must slam on their brakes and honk their horns. She believed a “no skateboarding” sign on the telephone pole 
would help prevent someone from being killed. 
 
Vice President Easom said a no parking zone has been added to the south side of Franklin Ave near 8th Street to 
improve traffic conditions at the intersection. However, the resident who lives on the northwest corner of the 
intersection parks close to the corner. The corner gets tight when one car passes through the intersection while another 
is turning right on to Franklin. He suggested the no parking zone on Franklin be extended. He did not know if any 
accidents had occurred, but he has seen some close calls as conditions at that intersection have worsened over the 
last several years. 
 
Commissioner Fitzpatrick was concerned about the southwest corner of 8th Street and Grand. A very large motor home 
has been parked in that location for a long time and the hedge facing 8th Street has grown very close to Grand and 
extends over the sidewalk. One must get out into traffic quite far to see around the house, hedge, and RV. He asked if 
anything could be done about this situation. He was also concerned about a bush at the corner of 10th and Marine that 
looks like a person trying to cross the street. The bush might slow some drivers down, but it is also a distraction. The 
bush does not add any aesthetics to the intersection and he asked if something could be done about it. 
 
Director Cronin said he would speak to the owners of the property at 8th and Grand about trimming the hedge, but he 
was not familiar with the bush at 10th and Marine Ave. He noted the RV is only allowed to be parked on the property for 
24 hours. Sergeant Aydt added the Police Department generally only enforces the 24-hour limit if a complaint has been 
made. Director Cronin confirmed the bulb outs between Farmer’s Insurance and the Maritime Museum was an ODOT 
right-of-way and he believed the Astoria Downtown Historic District Association (ADHDA) maintained the vegetation. He 
said he would email Alana Garner to see if she had any information. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned to convene the Planning Commission meeting at 6:46 pm.  
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
_____________________________    
Director  

































































 

 
 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 
 
 
 

 
April 8, 2016 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: PUBLIC SAFETY RADIO UPGRADES 
 
DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS 
 
The Public Safety communications network is comprised of multiple radios located at 
eight individual sites.  These sites serve all the public safety agencies in Clatsop 
County.  Having our communications deficiencies exposed in the 2007 windstorm, the 
City of Astoria began to build out a robust, redundant, and capable communications 
network.  This network was designed to allow us a path towards simulcasting.  
Simulcasting allows the Dispatch Center to broadcast radio transmission from several 
sites simultaneously.  The current system configuration requires the Dispatcher and 
field units to have knowledge of individual radio site locations, terrain, and police or fire 
unit locations.  A Dispatcher must select the repeater for the correct area and 
broadcasts radio traffic.  If they use the wrong repeater or the unit they are trying to 
reach has moved to another geographic location, the repeater may not reach the unit in 
the field.  This “geographic” approach also prohibits others from hearing potentially 
priority traffic. 
 
A simulcast system allows the disparate repeaters to act as one allowing for maximum 
coverage throughout the county.  The Deputy in Westport would be able to hear 
Dispatch give out a call for service to an Officer in the Seaside area.  This would 
enhance our first responder’s situational awareness and increase officer safety. 
 
The current system was designed to enable us to use simulcast when we had the 
upgraded equipment purchased and deployed.  That time has arrived. 
 
In conjunction with the Clatsop County Sheriff’s Office staff would like to purchase two 
Motorola GTR 8000 base radios with associated software making simulcasting possible. 
We currently have one GTR 8000 in service.  The addition of two more units would 
allow us to cover the majority of the County utilizing sites at Wickiup, Megler, and 
Tillamook Head. 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 
These base radios with associated equipment are Western States Contracting Alliance 
(WSCA) contract priced at $10,640 each. The Emergency Communications Fund has 
$12,000 available towards this purchase with the Sheriff’s Office contributing the 
balance of $9,280.  The Fiscal Year 2015-16 Emergency Communications Budget 
currently has an approved line item to purchase a GTR radio. The estimated amount at 
the time of budgeting was $12,000.  In order to make this an operational system this 
year, the Sheriff’s Office has agreed to contribute the necessary funds to purchase a 
second radio. 
 
The ability to simulcast has been one of our long term communications infrastructure 
goals and with the financial partnership of the Sheriff’s Office we can make this a reality.  
The second part of this “simulcast” goal is to add another channel capable of 
simulcasting to the Fire/EMS providers in the next few years.  Once completed, 
emergency responders would have two county-wide simulcast channels for use by the 
various disciplines. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that Council approve the purchase of two GTR 8000 base radios by 
Astoria 9-1-1 totaling $21,280 with the Sheriff’s Office reimbursing the Emergency 
Communications Fund $9,280.  

 
    Jeff Rusiecki  
Jeff Rusiecki 
Emergency Communications Manager 
 
 































































 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 
 
 
 
 

April 14, 2016 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: REVISED JOB DESCRIPTION AND SALARY RESOLUTION FOR LIBRARY 

DIRECTOR 
 
DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS 
 
Library Director Jane Tucker will be retiring at the end of May 2016.  The current Library 
Director job description has not been reviewed since Jane Tucker’s title was changed from 
Head Librarian to Library Director in 2002.  In preparation of posting the job opening, staff 
worked with the City’s human resources consultant, Xenium, to develop a new description 
and review salary ranges.  
 
Before the position can be posted, the job description needed to be updated to reflect 
current library practices, to satisfy the current needs of the City, and to address the current 
marketplace.  A copy of the current and proposed job descriptions are attached. 
 
In addition to the revised job description, it is proposed that the salary range be increased 
from Range 40 to Range 45.  This increase will bring it more in line with other similar 
jurisdictions in the area.  Range 40 provides salary Steps between $60,664 to $73,737 a 
year.  Range 45 provides salary Steps between $68,601 to $83,385 a year.  Funds are 
included in the draft budget for FY 2016-17 which would accommodate this increase.  This 
change will allow for the City to recruit a qualified candidate pool. 
 
Job recruitment materials are currently in the development phase.  Should Council 
approve the job description and salary at the April 18th meeting, it is anticipated the 
position would be posted that week.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the City Council approve the revised job description and revised 
salary range contained in the attached resolution.  With this action, the job will be posted 
to begin the recruitment process. 
 

















































CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 
 
 
 

 
 

REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 
 

Item 7(f) 
Affordable Housing Code Amendments – 

Vacation Rentals  
(Community Development) 

 
 

(No documentation is included for this agenda item) 
 
 



CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 
 
 
 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

Item 9(a) 
ORS 192.660(2)(h) – Legal Counsel 

 
 

(No documentation is included for this agenda item) 
 
 


	Agenda 4-18-16
	Agenda Memo 4-18-16
	5(a) Pacific Power
	5(b) Lower Columbia Hispanic Council
	6(a) CC Minutes 3-21-16
	6(b) CC Minutes 3-21-16 Work Session
	6(c)(1) HLC Minutes 3-15-16
	6(c)(2) Parks Board Minutes 1-27-16
	6(c)(3) APC Minutes 3-22-16
	6(c)(4) APC Work Session Minutes 3-22-16
	6(c)(5) Traffic Safety Minutes 1-26-16
	6(d) CLG Grant
	6(e) Heritage Square Site Cleanup
	6(f) Solid Waste Engineering Consultant Services
	6(g) Public Safety Radio Upgrades
	7(a) Liquor License Application Defeo
	7(b) Spur 18 Combo Harvest 2016
	7(c) Award Auditors Contract
	7(d) Request to Purchase City-owned Property
	7(e) Library Director Position
	7(f) Affordable Housing
	9(a) Executive Session



